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CORPORATE VISION
We love cars and want people to enjoy fulfilling lives through cars.
We envision cars existing sustainably with the earth and society,
and we will continue to tackle challenges with creative ideas.
1. Brighten people’s lives through car ownership.
2. O
 ffer cars that are sustainable with the earth and society to more people.
3. Embrace challenges and seek to master the Doh (“Way” or “Path”) of creativity.

CONTENTS
2 Message from the President and CEO
6 Financial Section
	  6 Financial Highlights
	  8 Eleven-Year Summary of Consolidated
Financial Statements

58 Environmental and Social Initiatives
58 Long-Term Vision for Technology
Development and Initiatives for Carbon
Neutrality
59 CSR Initiatives
		

59 Mazda CSR

10 Business Environment and Issues to Be
Addressed

		

60 Customer Satisfaction

		

60 Quality

12 Business Results, Financial Position, and
Cash Flows

		

61 Safety

		

62 Environment

16 Business Risks

		

63 Respect for People

18 Consolidated Financial Statements

		

63 Social Contributions

64 Governance
64 Directors and Officers
66 Corporate Governance
70 Corporate Data / Stock Information

25 Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
51 Independent Auditor’s Report

Mazda Annual Report 2021

1

MESSAGE FROM THE PRESIDENT AND CEO

Akira Marumoto
Representative Director,
President and CEO

Coexistence of Earth, Society, and People through Cars
As set out in our Corporate Vision, Mazda aims for the coexistence of earth,
society, and people through cars. We aspire to protect our beautiful planet,
create a society that offers safety and peace of mind, and through cars provide
social value to all in the form of health, convenience, and vibrant daily lives.
To achieve this goal, we will continue taking on the challenge of creating
value unique to Mazda, with a focus on “co-creation of uniqueness with others.”
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Fiscal Year Ended March 2021 Initiatives
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Reinforcement of Business Structure by Accelerating
Structural Reforms and Steadily Making Improvements
Fiscal Year Ended March 2021 Performance by Quarter
1Q

2Q

4Q

Full year

40.8

Operating Income
(Billions of Yen)

(1.0)%
Operating
Income Ratio
(%)

3Q

(7.6)
(12.0)%
(45.3)

Consolidated
Wholesale Volume
(Thousands of Units) 114

255

20.9
2.5%

4.4%

Second half
Operating Income ¥61.7 billion
Operating Income Ratio 3.5%

296

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

8.8
0.3%
990

325

In the fiscal year ended March 2021, the business environment was uncertain due to the unprecedented spread of
COVID-19. As such, we were unable to formulate full-year
targets at the beginning of the fiscal year and announced
our full-year forecast as an operating loss of ¥40.0 billion
in July 2020.
To overcome this crisis, we further accelerated the crossfunctional structural reforms that we have been promoting
thus far, and will continue to do so. In all regions and all
domains, we have been endeavoring to increase work
efficiency and optimize our fixed costs through measures
against structural issues that extend beyond individual
divisions. In addition, by improving variable profits through
initiatives including continuous control of sales incentives,
we have striven to lower the break-even volume.
Consequently, results for the fiscal year ended March
2021 vastly exceeded our forecast announced in July, and
we were able to achieve ¥8.8 billion in operating income.
In terms of quarterly trends, operating income recovered to
¥61.7 billion and the operating income ratio rose to 3.5%
in the second half. The operating income ratio increased to
4.4% in the fourth quarter as the company’s earning power
has improved.
While securing liquidity on hand due to emergency procurement of funds during the crisis, free cash flow, which
was negative during the previous fiscal year, recovered to a
positive ¥41.2 billion. Furthermore, the equity ratio stood
at 41% thanks to a strengthened balance sheet.

Governance

Forecast for Fiscal Year Ending March 2022

Bolstering of Initiatives to Maximize Profits
In the fiscal year ending March 2022, operating income is
expected to reach ¥65.0 billion and net income attributable to owners of the parent is predicted to come to
¥35.0 billion. Due to factors such as the emergence of the
Delta variant, COVID-19 is yet to be brought under control
around the world and infections are spreading in emerging
nations, such as in Southeast Asia. The outlook also remains
uncertain in regard to the shortage of semiconductors as
well as increasing raw material prices.
Based on these issues, while taking into account
assumed risks, we set our target for operating income at
¥65.0 billion. To ensure we achieve this target, we are
enacting various responses group-wide with the aim of
minimizing the potential impact of said risks. As production
is expected to be unstable due to a shortage in the supply
of semiconductors, we are carrying out rapid and flexible
production and efficiently utilizing global inventories while
monitoring the production, sales, and inventory levels in
key countries of operation on a weekly basis. For example,
Mazda is striving to maximize sales volume and profit by
prioritizing the supply of products to markets experiencing
strong demand due to economic recovery, such as the U.S.
We will also continue to improve variable profit through
efforts to reduce costs and optimize fixed costs, with a
view to continue lowering the break-even volume.
For the fiscal year ended March 2021, we forwent a
dividend payout after giving full consideration to the company’s financial results for the fiscal year and its financial
position. For the fiscal year ending March 2022, we plan to
pay a full-year dividend of ¥15 per share.

3

Medium-Term Management Plan Revision

Partial Revision of Policies and Initiatives as a Response to
Changes in the Business Environment
We are promoting our Medium-Term Management Plan,
which places “co-creation of uniqueness with others” in our
Management Policy. In view of the changes in the business
environment due to factors such as the impact of the
COVID-19 crisis, the tightening and acceleration of environmental regulations, and the race to create new value in the
CASE* era, we have extended the plan by one year, to the
fiscal year ending March 2026, while maintaining key management targets. In addition, we have set a new target to
lower our break-even volume to under one million units
with the aim of transitioning to a lean management structure
capable of overcoming crises.
* CASE: an acronym used to designate the new technologies of Connected technology,
Autonomous driving technology, Shared services, and Electrification technology.
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In response to the major changes of the era, we will
begin to invest in new domains, especially in response to
CASE, particularly regarding the acceleration and expansion of electrification and the transition to carbon neutrality.

Medium-Term Management Plan Revision
—Policies and Initiatives
(Underlined parts represent revisions or enhanced initiatives)
1  
Investment for raising brand value

— Investment in unique product, technology, production, and
customer experience—
• Continue investment with further efficiency and leveling
• Staggered launch of new products/derivatives
• Continued product upgrades
2 Curbing of expenses that depreciate brand value
3  
Acceleration of fixed cost/cost reductions to lower break-even volume
4  Investment in areas where we need to catch up and

commencement of investment in new areas
5  Strengthening of alliances (CASE, new partnerships)

4

Initiatives for Carbon Neutrality

Endeavor to Achieve Carbon Neutrality by 2050
To protect the environment by preventing global warming,
countries around the world have declared their intentions
to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. Mazda has done the
same, announcing its endeavor to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050 in order to protect our beautiful planet. In
countries around the world, the supply of renewable
energy and electrification will be promoted in stages.
Mazda provides multiple solutions, namely, offering
various power unit choices that adapt to the power supply
situation of each country and meet the needs of our customers. We are also striving to promote renewable liquid
fuels and to transition to green factories and offices.
Since Mazda announced “Sustainable Zoom-Zoom,” its
long-term vision for technology development in 2007, the
company has continued to carry out business activities
with the aim of realizing a sustainable society. Since then,
we have come to believe that what is essential for global
environmental conservation is not only reducing CO2 emissions from individual automobiles, but also doing so from
both a well-to-wheel perspective, including fuel extraction,
and from a life-cycle assessment (LCA) perspective, which
includes the manufacturing, logistics, disposal, and recycling of vehicles. Toward 2050, we believe that, in order to
conserve the global environment, it is essential to reduce
CO2 emissions by expanding our business perspective to
include the entire life cycle of a vehicle and the entire
supply chain. To this end, we will strive to collaborate and
co-create with all of our stakeholders and related business
partners to find the right solution for each region of operation and carry out the phased implementation thereof.
4
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 ew Technology and Product Development
N
Policy towards 2030

(1) Accumulation of technological assets in line with
our Building Block Strategy and highly efficient
manufacturing
The realization of a carbon-neutral society will be accompanied by the gradual proliferation of social infrastructure,
including renewable energy supply and charging facilities,
as environmental regulations tighten around the world.
Based on the timeline of this proliferation, Mazda has
continued to consistently promote its Building Block
Strategy by building up technological assets to meet the
needs of its customers. We are currently at the stage of
further enhancing our internal combustion engines and
expanding electrification technologies. Going forward,
we will introduce the “Skyactiv Multi-solution Scalable
Architecture” products equipped with various electrification technologies. Based on the state of electric power
generation infrastructure in our countries of operation, we
will deliver multiple solutions, including electric vehicles
(EVs), plug-in hybrids, and hybrids, to meet the various
needs of our customers. In addition, Mazda will introduce
its unique EV platform “Skyactiv EV Scalable Architecture”
in 2025 and onwards suitable for EVs of various sizes and
body types.
As a small player, Mazda is capable of responding with
multiple solutions because it builds up processes as our
assets that can efficiently develop and manufacture various
products and technologies in a short-term period and with
small investments through Monotsukuri Innovation, consisting of Bundled Planning, Common Architecture, and
flexible production. Going forward we will continue
to expand Model-Based Development, utilize AI, and promote the shift to digital transformation (DX) to evolve
Monotsukuri Innovation. Together with our business
partners and suppliers, we plan to steadily accumulate
technological assets for the full-scale electrification era
while promoting efficient manufacturing.
Future Plan for Electrified Products
2022

2023

2024

Skyactiv EV
Scalable
Architecture

Skyactiv
MultiSolution
Scalable
Architecture
Collaboration

2025

2030

Multiple
models

EV

3 Models

Plug-in
Hybrid

5 Models

Hybrid

5 Models

Note: Mild-hybrid is not included
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(2) Promotion of electrification and introduction of
products—Multi-solution strategy
The “Skyactiv Multi-solution Scalable Architecture” electrification products to be introduced mainly in Japan, Europe,
the U.S., China, and the ASEAN region between 2022 and
2025 will consist of five hybrid models,* five plug-in hybrid
models, and three EV models. In addition, several products
with “Skyactiv EV Scalable Architecture” will be introduced
between 2025 and 2030.
Based on this product launch plan, Mazda assumes that
all of its products will have some level of electrification,
and its ratio of EVs will be 25% by 2030. Going forward,
we will flexibly respond to various factors, including the
tightening of environmental regulations around the world,
the characteristics of each market, and the needs of our
customers.
1

Globally 100% electrification in 2030
25% of total production consists of BEVs

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

(4) Development of technologies for connected
services and software technologies as a foundation
for next-generation mobility services
Mazda intends to fortify its development initiatives regarding fundamental software technologies in order to accommodate for next-generation mobility as a service (MaaS)
and to update vehicle functions via over-the-air (OTA)*
programming. Five Japanese OEM companies,* including
Mazda, will jointly develop standard engineering specifications for next-generation, in-vehicle communication devices
to bring forward the realization of a standardized communication system, in order to provide safer and stress-free
connected services as soon as possible. Furthermore, we
will move ahead with the development of next-generation
electric/electronic architecture (EEA), which will enable
the advanced processing of data from inside and outside
vehicles.
2

3

*1 Excluding mild hybrid models, but including models equipped with Toyota Hybrid
System (THS), supplied by Toyota
*2 The updating of software via wireless communication
*3 Mazda Motor Corporation, Suzuki Motor Corporation, Subaru Corporation,
Daihatsu Motor Co., Ltd., and Toyota Motor Corporation

Internal
combustion engine
+ Electrification
technologies

75%

Battery EV

25 %

(3) P
 romotion of human-oriented safety technologies to
create an accident-free society
Under Mazda’s unique safety philosophy, we contribute to
reducing traffic accidents while gradually upgrading technology that supports drivers and provides a safe and secure
driving environment in order to fully unlock people’s driving potential.
The newly introduced advanced driving support technology Mazda Co-Pilot uses sensors to monitor the driver’s
condition at all times, detecting and alerting the driver to
the most common causes of accidents, such as drowsiness
and not keeping one’s eyes on the road. Furthermore, in
the case that a driver becomes unable to operate their
vehicle, the system switches to autonomous driving, bringing the car to a safe place, stopping the car while alerting
others, and then placing an emergency call in order to prevent a major traffic accident. We plan to introduce Mazda
Co-Pilot 1.0, as a first step, starting from our Large Products
from 2022.

Furthermore, we plan to announce revisions to our
Medium-Term Management Plan and a longer-term framework, including our business plan for realizing carbon neutrality at an appropriate time in the future.
Our lives and society have been drastically changed due to
the COVID-19 crisis. No matter the era, Mazda will continue
to be a company that aspires to protect our beautiful
planet, create a society that offers safety and peace of
mind, and through cars provide social value to all in the
form of health, convenience, and vibrant daily lives. For this
reason, we will continue to take on the challenge of enhancing long-term corporate value and striving for sustainable
growth, while strengthening co-creation with all those
connected to the company with a focus on co-creating
our uniqueness with others.
With that in mind, I would like to ask our shareholders
and investors for their continued support.


September 2021

Akira Marumoto
Representative Director, President and CEO
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
Net Sales

Operating Income / Operating Income Ratio

(Billions of yen)

(Billions of yen / %)

3,564.2

3,474.0

3,430.3

146.4

3,400.0
2,882.1

2,870.6

2,842.8

2,800.4

4.2
82.3

2,760.0

2,287.6

65.0

2.3
43.6

693.6

631.2
2018

2019

Domestic

629.9
2020

2022
(Plan)

Overseas

8.8

640.0

594.5
2021

1.9
1.3

(Years
ended
March 31)

2018

2019

2020

0.3

2021

2022
(Plan)

Operating Income

(Years
ended
March 31)

Operating Income Ratio

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent /
Return on Equity (ROE)

Full-Year Dividend / Payout Ratio
(Yen / %)

(Billions of yen / %)

112.1

10.0

181.7

63.2

35

35

35

35.0

5.3
12.1

1.0

15
19.1

(2.7)

34.9
0

(31.7)
2018

2019

2020

2021

2022
(Plan)

Net Income Attributable to Owners of the Parent

(Years
ended
March 31)

Return on Equity (ROE)

2018

2019

2020

27.0

0.0

2021

2022
(Plan)

Full-Year Dividend

(Years
ended
March 31)

(Fiscal Year
March 2020)

Payout Ratio

Research and Development Costs /
Ratio of R&D Costs to Net Sales

Capital Expenditures / Depreciation and Amortization /
Ratio of Capital Expenditures to Net Sales

(Billions of yen / %)

(Billions of yen / %)

155.0
136.0

134.7

3.9

135.0

119.7

4.4

3.9

3.8

128.0

127.4

3.8

104.1
87.0

2019

2020

Research and Development Costs
Ratio of R&D Costs to Net Sales

2021

2022
(Plan)

(Years
ended
March 31)

2018

92.3

88.4
3.9

3.4

3.0

2018

132.6

2019
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95.0

3.2

2020

Capital Expenditures
Depreciation and Amortization
Ratio of Capital Expenditures to Net Sales

6

93.0 89.8

2021

2022
(Plan)

(Years
ended
March 31)
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Equity / Equity Ratio

Net Interest-Bearing Debt

(Billions of yen / %)

(Billions of yen)

51.9
1,192.9

1,203.3

1,174.9

1,181.7

17.1

1,039.4
43.8

41.2

41.8

42.1

40.5
(35.4)

(94.6)

(107.0)

Equity

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

18

19

20

21

22

Equity Ratio

2017

(As of
March 31)

2018

Cash Flows

Number of employees

(Billions of yen)

(People)

207.8
161.1

120.1

97.3
47.8

15.1

(63.8)

2017

2018

49,998

2020

50,479

2021

(As of
March 31)

49,786

10,987

10,881

10,696

10,682

13,097

37,862

38,874

39,302

39,797

36,689

41.2

34.8

(78.9)

(92.7)
(160.0)

49,755

48,849

146.7

2019

(131.6)

(127.6)

2019

2020

2021

Cash Flows from Operating Activities

(Years
ended
March 31)

2017

2018

Domestic

Overseas

17

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

18

2019

2020

2021

19

20

21

(As of
March 31)

Free Cash Flow

Global Sales Volume

Global Production Volume

(Thousands of units)

(Thousands of units)

1,559

1,631

409

345

292

322

247

262

269

270

264

429

435

421

397

215

210

203
2017

2018

Japan

North America

China

Other Markets

1,620

1,570
1,434

1,419

394

373

1,592

1,561

2019

Europe

212

202
2020

1,287

633

627

560

301

462

1,171
424

228
178
1,010

987

965

403

972

748

176
2021

(Years
ended
March 31)

2017

Domestic

2018

Overseas

2019

2020

2021

(Years
ended
March 31)
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ELEVEN-YEAR SUMMARY OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mazda Motor Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

¥3,033,899

2

Business results* (Millions of yen):
3

Net sales*

¥2,325,689

¥2,033,058

¥2,205,270

¥2,692,238

  Domestic

541,490

560,216

588,042

655,716

617,397

  Overseas

1,784,199

1,472,842

1,617,228

2,036,522

2,416,502

1,863,678

1,662,592

1,729,296

1,993,643

2,247,720

438,176

409,184

422,038

516,474

583,291

Operating income/(loss)

23,835

(38,718)

53,936

182,121

202,888

Income/(loss) before income taxes

16,081

(55,262)

39,101

97,409

209,335

(60,042)

(107,733)

34,304

135,699

158,808

Capital expenditures*

44,722

78,040

77,190

133,216

131,010

Depreciation and amortization

71,576

68,791

59,954

57,656

68,872

Research and development costs

90,961

91,716

89,930

99,363

108,378

Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses

 Net income/(loss) attributable
to owners of the parent
4

Cash flows:
   Operating cash flows

15,344

(9,098)

49,033

136,379

204,459

   Investing cash flows

(13,717)

(70,317)

(40,287)

(120,057)

(95,548)

5

   Free cash flow*

   Financing cash flows

1,627

(79,415)

8,746

16,322

108,911

(14,360)

236,462

(57,181)

10,483

(62,776)

Financial position (Millions of yen):
Total assets

¥1,771,767

¥1,915,943

¥1,978,567

¥2,246,036

¥2,473,287

Net assets

430,539

474,429

513,226

676,837

891,326

Interest-bearing debt

693,000

778,085

718,983

742,735

701,019

Net interest-bearing debt

370,151

300,778

274,108

262,981

171,871

Amounts per share of common stock (Yen):
6

Net income/(loss)*

¥   (33.92)
7

Cash dividends applicable to the year*
8

Net assets*

¥   (57.80)

¥    11.48

—

—

—

242.24

156.85

166.04

10

¥  226.99*
1.00

10

¥   265.64*
10.00

10

1,105.21*

10

1,454.61*

Financial indicators (%):
Operating income ratio

1.0%
9

Return on equity (ROE)*
Equity ratio*

9

Average number of shares outstanding
(in thousands)
Number of employees (people)

(1.9)%

2.4%

6.8%

6.7%

(12.8)

(24.0)

7.1

23.5

20.8

24.2

24.5

25.1

29.4

35.2

1,770,198

1,863,949

2,989,171

38,117

37,617

37,745

10

10

597,829*

597,823*

40,892

44,035

* 1 The translation of Japanese yen into U.S. dollars is presented solely for the convenience of readers outside of Japan, using the prevailing exchange rate on March 31, 2021,
of ¥111 to US$1.
2 Results information for the fiscal year March 2011 includes 15-month results for certain overseas subsidiaries that changed their fiscal year-end.
3 Net sales are categorized by the regions based on the customers’ locations.
4 Capital expenditures are calculated on an accrual basis.
5 Free cash flow represents the sum of net cash flows from operating activities and investing activities.
6 The calculations of net income/(loss) per share of common stock are based on the average number of shares outstanding during each fiscal year.
7 Cash dividends per share represent actual amounts applicable to each fiscal year.
8 The amounts of net assets used in the calculation of net assets per share exclude non-controlling interests (and, from the fiscal year March 2011 to the fiscal year March 2013 and
from the fiscal year March 2017 to the fiscal year March 2021, stock acquisition rights).

8
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2021

2020

2021
1

Thousands of U.S. dollars*

¥3,406,603

¥3,214,363

¥3,474,024

¥3,564,172

¥ 3,430,285

¥2,882,066

660,935

587,025

631,229

693,581

629,911

594,490

5,355,766

2,745,668

2,627,338

2,842,795

2,870,591

2,800,374

2,287,576

20,608,793

2,567,465

2,448,184

2,653,600

2,772,184

2,683,647

2,268,422

20,436,234

612,363

640,492

674,003

709,681

703,035

604,824

5,448,865

226,775

125,687

146,421

82,307

43,603

8,820

79,459

166,986

128,413

157,484

107,567

49,282

2,202

19,838

134,419

93,780

112,057

63,155

12,131

(31,651)

(285,144)

89,214

94,399

104,129

119,734

132,578

92,972

837,586

78,972

82,416

86,954

88,443

92,269

89,765

808,694

116,610

126,915

136,009

134,660

135,009

127,432

1,148,036

262,770

161,097

207,795

146,690

34,834

120,058

1,081,603

(108,092)

(63,751)

(159,989)

(131,611)

(127,578)

(78,862)

(710,468)

154,678

97,346

47,806

15,079

(92,744)

41,196

371,135

(94,062)

(149,898)

30,461

83,411

(24,274)

99,348

895,027

11

$25,964,559

¥2,548,401

¥2,524,552

¥2,724,092*

¥2,877,613

¥ 2,787,640

¥2,917,414

$26,283,009

976,723

1,064,038

1,219,470

1,233,441

1,205,846

1,195,830

10,773,243

617,132

491,434

497,893

607,051

619,868

755,928

6,810,162

48,418

(35,430)

(106,961)

(94,573)

51,874

17,135

154,369
U.S. dollars*

¥  224.85

¥   156.87

¥   182.93

¥   100.28

¥   19.26

¥       (50.26)

1

$       (0.45)

30.00

35.00

35.00

35.00

35.00

—

—

1,595.83

1,738.70

1,894.29

1,910.67

1,865.63

1,876.40

16.90

6.7%

3.9%

4.2%

0.3%

2.3%

1.3%

5.3

1.0

(2.7)

41.8

42.1

40.5*

612,554

629,757

629,781

629,786

49,755

49,998

50,479

49,786

14.7

9.4

10.0

37.4

41.2

43.8*

597,819

597,816

46,398

48,849

11

13

9 T he amounts of equity exclude non-controlling interests (and, from the fiscal year March 2011 to the fiscal year March 2013 and from the fiscal year March 2017 to the fiscal
year March 2021, stock acquisition rights).
10 A
 share consolidation was implemented on common stock with a ratio of five shares to one share on August 1, 2014. Average number of shares outstanding, net income per share,
and net assets per share are calculated based on the assumption that consolidation of shares had been carried out at the beginning of the fiscal year March 2014.
11 The Company has adopted “Partial Amendments to Accounting Standard for Tax Effect Accounting” from the beginning of the fiscal year March 2019. The figures for the fiscal
year March 2018 were adjusted retrospectively in accordance with this change.
12 The consolidated foreign subsidiaries that apply U.S. GAAP adopted ASU 2014-09 from the beginning of the fiscal year March 2020. The figures for the fiscal year March 2019 were
adjusted retrospectively in accordance with this change.
13 P
 ercentage after consideration of the equity credit attributes of the subordinated loan is 41.7%.
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BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT AND ISSUES TO BE ADDRESSED
Medium-Term Management Plan Revision
(From Fiscal Year March 2020 to Fiscal Year March 2026)
The automobile industry is experiencing a once-in-a-century
transformation. Therefore, it is imperative for the industry to
undergo a transformation in various business areas such as product planning, development, manufacturing, sales, and customer
care, including after-sales service, to enable it to respond to the
era’s requirements in the areas of CASE (Connected technology,
Autonomous driving technology, Shared services, and Electrification
technology). It is also imperative that we proceed with this transformation on a global scale and all at once. To make it through
this transformation period and achieve sustainable growth, we
must focus on Mazda’s unique value of “co-creating with others.”
Based on this core policy of “co-creating with others,” in
November 2019, the Company announced its Medium-Term
Management Plan, setting out the following three areas as management themes to be promoted.
Investment in unique products and customer experience:
investment for brand value improvement
Curbing of expenses that depreciate brand value
Investment in areas where we need to catch up:
investment in infrastructure, partnerships, environment
and, safety
Due to the global COVID-19 pandemic, various risks have materialized and the business environment has changed significantly
since February 2020. Taking into account lessons learned during
the conditions of the pandemic, the worldwide strengthening and
acceleration of environmental regulations, and competition in new
value creation in an era characterized by CASE, the Company
made a partial revision to the Medium-Term Management Plan’s
policy and initiatives in November 2020.
For Mazda to remain sustainable in the future, capitalizing on our
unique value of “co-creating with others” is essential. We remain
committed to investing in future growth as well as in initiatives to
respond to CASE by strengthening our alliances and investing in
unique value.

Medium-Term Management Plan: Key Initiatives
The Company made revisions to its policy and initiatives in the
following five areas.
(Underlined parts represent revisions or enhanced initiatives.)

Investment for raising brand value
—Investment in unique product, technology, production,
and customer experience—
• Continue investment with further efficiency and leveling
• Staggered launch of new products/derivatives
• Continued product upgrades
Curbing of expenses that depreciate brand value
 cceleration of fixed cost/cost reductions to lower break-even
A
volume
Investment in areas where we need to catch up and commencement of investment in new areas
Strengthening of alliances (CASE, new partnerships)
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In the two years of the foundation-building period of the
Medium-Term Management Plan, we will complete preparations
in all areas to enable significant growth in the future. These preparations include basic hardware development in technology and
product areas, flexible and mixed-model production facilities to
efficiently produce a wide range of products and technologies, the
opening of new-generation stores in various markets, and the
enhancement of sales finance as well as the establishment of an
efficient supply chain.
Our priority initiatives in 2022 and onward are as follows.

Priority Initiatives from 2022 Onward
1. Invest for raising brand value
—Investment in unique products, technology and
customer experience—
Products/
technology

Efficient development, enhanced actions to meet
environmental regulations and new value creation engineering

Production

Efficient production, decarbonization, and new value
creation in all plants

Japan

Pursue stable business growth while maintaining quantity
and improving quality

U.S.

As the most important market, aim to build a robust profit base

Europe

Continue to enhance “chosen for its uniqueness” brand
value and achieve qualitative growth

China

Aim to make China our most important market

2. Curb expenses that depreciate brand value
Variable
marketing
expenses

Increase customer base by enhancing the current valuebased sales

Supply chain

Achieve cash flow and revenue growth by improving
inventory volume and turnover

Quality

Based on continuous improvement activities, accelerate
quality initiatives of new vehicles with high complexity and
integrated control

3. Accelerate fixed cost/cost reductions
to lower break-even volume
Overseas plants

Maximum utilization of assets for more flexible
production structure

Advertising
expenses

Shift to marketing appropriate for the times, more local
approach for new customers

Cost reduction

Process innovation for CASE technology development/
procurement and higher cost competitiveness in overseas plants

4. Invest in areas where we need to catch up and
start investing in new areas
IT

Investment for IT and decarbonized society for CASE era

Work
environment

Support both diversified work styles and efficiency and
invest in work environment/people/social contribution

5. Strengthen alliances (CASE, new partnership)
Alliances

Balance between “selection and focus” and “unique
business and partnership” to increase brand value and
expand business
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While striving to realize strong growth by capitalizing on the
assets we build during the foundation-building period, we will
shift the quality of our investments to enhance electrification,
make our plants and offices carbon neutral, focus IT investment in
CASE technologies, and invest in people to maximize employee
performance.

Medium-Term Management Plan: Financial Metrics
Based on revisions due to the impact of the pandemic, the
Company decided to postpone the time line for achieving the
Medium-Term Management Plan targets by one year to fiscal year
March 2026. Key financial metrics are as follows. The break-even
volume was added at the time of revision and is set at one million
units of consolidated wholesale volume. The Company is currently
moving ahead with initiatives to achieve its targets.
Net sales
Profitability

Investment for
the future

• About ¥4.5 trillion
• Operating income ratio: 5% or higher
•R
 eturn on equity: 10% or higher
•C
 apital investment and R&D investment:
7%–8% of net sales or lower
• Actions for electrification, IT, and carbon neutrality

Financial structure

•M
 aintenance of net cash position

Shareholder returns

 ustainable payout ratio at 30% or higher
•S

Sales volume

•A
 bout 1.8 million units

Break-even volume

• About 1 million units (wholesale)

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

neutrality requires efforts not only on the part of car makers but
also across the entire supply chain. We will make efforts to promote carbon neutrality throughout the supply chain as we gain
support for energy policies and the development, production, and
spread of electrification.
We announced our Medium-Term Technology and Product
Policy in June 2021. Based on the accumulation of technological
assets in line with our Building Block Strategy and their utilization
for highly efficient manufacturing, we continuously enhance our
internal combustion engines and electrification technologies. By
utilizing a platform that is compatible with various electrification
3
technologies, we will introduce five hybrid models* , five plug-in
hybrid models, and three EV models, mainly into Japan, Europe,
the U.S., China, and ASEAN by 2025. Furthermore, we are continuing to develop Mazda’s unique EV platform for EVs with various vehicle sizes and body types, and plan to introduce several
models between 2025 and 2030. Through these initiatives, we
assume that 100% of our products will have some level of electrification, and our EV ratio will be 25% by 2030.
*1 A strategy to develop internal combustion engines and electrification technology in
the right places, taking into account CO2 reductions under real-world conditions, the
suitability of power sources for vehicles, and each region’s energy situation and
power generation mix.
*2 Mazda’s technology strategy to provide multiple solutions by first improving base technologies that provide vehicles’ basic performance, such as the engine, transmission,
body, and chassis (Skyactiv Technology), and then adding electric devices such as an
idling stop system, regenerative braking system, and hybrid system.
*3 Excluding mild hybrid models, but including models equipped with the Toyota Hybrid
System (THS) supplied from Toyota Motor Corporation.

Initiatives for Achieving Carbon Neutrality
We are directing our efforts toward initiatives for achieving carbon
neutrality as our most important challenge for achieving the targets
of our Medium-Term Management Plan and fulfilling our social
responsibilities.
At the technical briefing held in October 2018, we stated that it
1
was important to offer multiple solutions for electrification* to
reduce CO2 from a well-to-wheel (from fuel extraction to driving)
perspective in line with each country’s power supply conditions,
usage environment, and customer diversity and demands. With
this viewpoint in mind, we announced our intentions to develop
electrification technologies in stages under our Building Block
2
Strategy* and to electrify all vehicles Mazda produces by 2030.
Following our plans to roll out electrification technologies, we
introduced the Mazda MX-30 mild hybrid and EV (electric vehicle)
models into the market in 2020.
In the revision of our Medium-Term Management Plan in
November 2020, we announced that we would shift the quality of
our investments to compete in value creation in the CASE era. To
achieve net-zero CO2 emissions during manufacturing processes,
we will promote investments to make production plants and
offices carbon neutral, and we will shift investments to the development of EV-exclusive platforms. Through such initiatives, we
aim to achieve carbon neutrality from a perspective of the entire
life cycle of our products.
Based on the revision of our Medium-Term Management Plan,
we announced in February 2021 that we will endeavor to achieve
carbon neutrality by 2050. Achieving automotive-related carbon
Mazda Annual Report 2021
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BUSINESS RESULTS, FINANCIAL POSITION, AND CASH FLOWS
Review of Operations for Fiscal Year March 2021
Operating Environment
With regard to the operating environment surrounding the Mazda
Group in fiscal year March 2021, we continued to face challenging
situations, such as various countries implementing lockdowns and
declaring states of emergencies, and the rapid worsening of the
global economy due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Meanwhile, in
the second half of the fiscal year, due to factors including the
resumption of economic activities and economic stimulus programs by the governments of various countries, there were also
signs of recovery in some countries, such as recovery in demand,
particularly in the U.S.

Review of Operations
Under such an environment, we announced our Medium-Term
Management Plan Revision in November 2020 in response to
the significant changes in the business environment due to the
spread of COVID-19. Based on what we have learned and reexamined during the COVID-19 pandemic and the tightening
and acceleration of global environmental regulations, as well as
the competition to create new value in the era of CASE, we have
officially announced specific initiatives aimed at addressing
structural issues. In the two-year period of creating a solid foundation leading up to fiscal year March 2022, we will complete
preparations in all areas for the next stage of strong growth.
Following this, we will move forward with our Medium-Term
Management Plan to promote a shift in the q
 uality of investment
toward realizing electrification, improved IT, and carbon
neutrality.
We introduced an EV model of our new compact SUV, the
Mazda MX-30, to the European market in September 2020 as
our third new-generation product. In the Japanese market, we
launched sales of the mild hybrid model in October 2020, followed by the EV model in January 2021. The EV model of the
MX-30 is Mazda’s first mass-production EV, which was designed
to help realize carbon neutrality by 2050. Additionally, with
regard to our other products, we implemented updates to our
flagship models, including the Mazda CX-3, Mazda3, Mazda
CX-5, and the Mazda CX-8. With increased engine power and
the introduction of the new-generation Mazda Connect system,
these models offer advanced driving pleasure through enhanced
driving performance and safety. Mazda aims to become a brand
that creates special bonds with customers by inspiring people
and to realize a beautiful planet and enrich people’s lives as well
as society through the joy of driving, the pure essence of cars.
Mazda’s global sales were 1,287,000 units, down 9.3% year on
year, due to a decline in sales in Japan, Europe, ASEAN, and
other countries following the impact of the COVID-19 outbreak.
Meanwhile, in markets where there were strong sales, such as
the U.S. and Australia, sales overtook the recovery in demand
and the sales volume was greater than that of the previous
fiscal year.
Consolidated wholesale volumes decreased 19.7% from the
previous fiscal year, to 990,000 units.
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Review by Market
Japan
Total demand in Japan decreased 8% year on year, to 4.66 million units, mainly due to the impact of COVID-19.
Mazda’s sales volume was down 13%, to 176,000 units, due to
factors including the decline in total demand and intensifying
competition caused by the launch of crossover SUVs by other
companies. The market share also fell to 3.8%.
Amid this harsh sales environment, there was steady improvement in the second half of the fiscal year due to favorable sales
of Mazda’s flagship crossover SUVs, the CX-5 and the CX-8,
which received an update in December 2020.
North America
Total demand in the United States declined 9% compared with
the previous fiscal year, to 14.99 million units. In Canada, total
demand was down 13%, to 1.59 million units, while total
demand in Mexico fell 30%, to 0.91 million units.
Mazda’s sales volume in the North American market rose 2%, to
403,000 units. This was mainly due to favorable sales in the
United States.
Sales volume in the United States was up 7%, to 295,000. The
market share rose 0.3 point, to 2.0%. There was a year-on-year
increase in sales driven by the crossover SUVs, including the
CX-5 and Mazda CX-9, as well as the newly-introduced Mazda
CX-30, despite total demand falling compared with the previous
fiscal year. In addition to high product appeal, the results of sales
reforms that have been implemented over the years, including
the optimization of trading areas, training of employees, and
innovation of dealerships, have begun to show results.
Sales volume in Canada fell 4%, to 62,000 units. Sales volume in
Mexico fell 19%, to 46,000 units.
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Europe
Total demand in Europe decreased 15% year on year, to 16.05
million units. One of the reasons for this decrease was prolonged
lockdowns following the spread of COVID-19.
Mazda’s sales volume was down 32%, to 178,000 units. The
market share fell 0.3 point, to 1.1%. In addition to the impact of
shrinking demand due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the shift in
demand to EVs and plug-in hybrid cars, mainly in Germany, was
another reason for the fall in sales.
Amid this harsh sales environment, Mazda’s first mass-production EV, the MX-30, launched in September 2020 and has
steadily improved its recognition, with sales for the full year
exceeding 10,000 units as planned. This contributed to a reduction in corporate average CO2 emissions in Europe.
China
Total demand in China increased 22% year on year, to 28.10
million units, due to a rapid recovery from the impact of COVID19. Demand also recovered drastically in the SUV segment,
which has been the growth driver in the passenger vehicle
market, increasing by 26%.
Mazda’s sales volume rose 8% from the previous fiscal year, to
228,000 units. The market share fell slightly to 0.8%. Despite an
increasingly harsh and competitive environment, including an
increase in incentives by other companies, sales of crossover
SUVs, such as the Mazda CX-4 and CX-5, as well as the CX-30,
which was launched full scale in June 2020, achieved a year-onyear increase. The Mazda3 also maintained favorable sales.
Additionally, Mazda is launching the EV model of the CX-30 exclusively to the Chinese market from fall 2021 in response to the
tightening of environmental regulations in China.
Global Sales Volume
(Thousands of units)

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

Other Markets
Mazda’s sales volume in other markets, which include Australia
and ASEAN, fell by 13% year on year, to 301,000 units.
Mazda’s sales volume in Australia experienced a slump in the
first half of the fiscal year due to COVID-19, but made a recovery
in the second half with a year-on-year increase of 3% to 93,000
units. The market share rose 1.0 point, to 9.8%. In particular, the
newly-introduced CX-30 and CX-8 2.5L model contributed to
this increase in sales.
In the ASEAN market, total demand shrunk due to factors including the renewed spread of COVID-19 and restricted economic
activities. Total sales volume for the ASEAN market fell 15% year
on year to 87,000 units.
• Mazda’s sales volume for the full year in Thailand fell 23%, to
40,000 units, and the market share fell 0.4 points, to 5.1%.
Sales in the second half of the fiscal year increased by 8% year
on year, led by compact SUVs including the CX-30, but this
increase was not enough to offset the decline in sales in the
first half.
• Mazda’s sales volume for the full year in Vietnam rose 1% from
the previous fiscal year, to 26,000 units. By proactively leveraging government economic stimulus measures, sales in the
second half of the fiscal year increased by 34% year on year.
This increase contributed to business growth for the full year,
offsetting lower sales in the first half of the fiscal year.

Fiscal Year March 2021

YoY

Second half

Full year

74

103

176

(25.0)%

(1.4)%

185

219

403

(8.8)%

+12.5 %

+1.6 %

Europe

82

97

178

(39.9)%

(24.1)%

(32.3)%

China

117

111

228

+7.0 %

+8.6 %

+7.8 %

Other Markets

121

180

301

(34.3)%

+12.1 %

(12.7)%

Total

578

709

1,287

(20.8)%

+3.0 %

(9.3)%

Japan
North America

First half

First half

Second half

Full year

(12.9)%
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BUSINESS RESULTS, FINANCIAL POSITION, AND CASH FLOWS

Net Sales
Net sales totaled ¥2,882.1 billion, a decrease of ¥548.2 billion, or
16.0%, reflecting the decrease in wholesale volume during the first
half of the fiscal year. By region, domestic sales amounted to
¥594.5 billion, a decrease of ¥35.4 billion, or 5.6% year on year,
due to a drop in sales as a result of intensifying competition from
other companies. Overseas sales saw a decline of ¥512.8 billion,
or 18.3%, to ¥2,287.6 billion, mainly due to the decrease in
wholesale volume in the European and ASEAN markets.
By product, vehicle sales were down ¥498.9 billion, or 17.6%,
to ¥2,340.2 billion, mainly due to a fall in wholesales resulting
from the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic, and sales of knockdown parts for overseas production declined by ¥14.7 billion, or
17.7%, to ¥68.1 billion. Sales of parts shrunk by ¥33.4 billion, or
12.7%, to ¥229.0 billion. Other sales fell ¥1.2 billion, or 0.5%, to
¥244.8 billion.

Operating Income
In the first half of the fiscal year, operating income declined ¥78.7
billion year on year, to a loss of ¥52.9 billion. This decline was
mainly due to a fall in wholesales associated with the global outbreak of COVID-19. Meanwhile, as a result of Companywide
focused and continuous efforts to lower the break-even sales
volume through sales recovery, fixed cost control, and improvement of variable profit, we achieved a significant improvement in
operating income in the second half of the fiscal year, which
increased ¥43.9 billion year on year to ¥61.7 billion.
As a result, the operating income for the full year decreased
by ¥34.8 billion, or 79.8%, to ¥8.8 billion, and the consolidated
operating income ratio declined 1.0 percentage point, to 0.3%.
Furthermore, regarding the lowering of break-even sales volume,
we achieved just under 500,000 units in the second half of
the fiscal year, making steady progress toward achieving our
goal of one million units, as set out in our Medium-Term
Management Plan.

Operating Income Change
(Billions of yen)
Volume and mix

43.6

(108.5)

YoY (34.8)
Fixed costs
and others

8.8

+76.3

Other
factors
related
to sales

0

(22.6)

(9.3)

2020

Improvement

Foreign
Cost
exchange improvement

+8.8

Production
losses due to
suspension of
production
transferred to
extraordinary loss

+20.5

Consolidated Earnings
(Billions of yen)

Net sales

2021

(Years ended March 31)

Deterioration

Ordinary Income and Net Income Attributable to Owners
of the Parent
Ordinary income fell ¥24.8 billion, or 46.8%, to ¥28.3 billion,
owing principally to the recording of ¥16.1 billion of foreign
exchange gains and a ¥6.6 billion gain from equity in net income
of affiliated companies. Net loss attributable to owners of the
parent was ¥31.7 billion, compared with net income attributable to
owners of the parent of ¥12.1 billion in the previous fiscal year, as a
result of factors such as the recording of ¥20.5 billion in fixed and
other costs during the suspension of production due to the impact
of the COVID-19 pandemic as an extraordinary loss and tax
expenses of ¥34.3 billion.

Capital Expenditures and R&D Costs
Capital expenditures (including intangible assets) totaled ¥93.0
billion. This included investments for future growth such as capital
expenditures in new-generation products, environmental and safety
technologies, and the reinforcement of the global production system.
By segment, capital expenditures totaled ¥64.2 billion in Japan
and were mainly focused on new-generation products, environmental and safety technologies, and increased production capacity
at the Hiroshima and Hofu plants. In North America, ¥24.9 billion
was invested in projects such as the construction of a new plant in
the United States. Capital expenditures in Europe totaled ¥2.1
billion, and totaled ¥1.8 billion in other regions. Additionally,
Mazda is not implementing the disposal or sale of any major facilities in any segment.
R&D costs totaled ¥127.4 billion, for the research and development of new-generation products and environmental and safety
technologies.

Financial Position
Total assets as of March 31, 2021 came to ¥2,917.4 billion, up
¥129.8 billion from the end of the previous fiscal year. This was
due to factors such as increases in cash and cash equivalents (total
amount of cash and deposits, as well as securities). Total liabilities
amounted to ¥1,721.6 billion, an increase of ¥139.8 billion from
the end of the previous fiscal year, owing to the procurement of
funds in preparation for the business fund risks associated with the
global outbreak of COVID-19. Interest-bearing debt amounted to
¥755.9 billion, owing to such factors as an increase in long-term
loans.
Net assets amounted to ¥1,195.8 billion, a decrease of ¥10.0
billion, reflecting a net loss attributable to owners of the parent of
¥31.7 billion and cash dividends paid of ¥12.6 billion due to factors such as an increase in accumulated other comprehensive
income associated with a rise in share prices. The equity ratio
decreased 1.6 percentage points from the end of the previous
fiscal year to 40.5% (the percentage after consideration of the
equity credit attributes of the subordinated loan was 41.7%).

Fiscal Year March 2021
First half

1,115.8

Second half

YoY
Full year

First half

Second half

Full year

1,766.3

2,882.1

(590.8)

+42.6

(548.2)

(16.0)%

Operating income/(loss)

(52.9)

61.7

8.8

(78.7)

+43.9

(34.8)

(79.8)%

Ordinary income/(loss)

(53.3)

81.6

28.3

(87.3)

+62.5

(24.8)

(46.8)%

Net income/(loss) attributable to
owners of the parent

(93.0)

61.3

(31.7)

(109.6)

+65.8

(43.8)
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Cash Flows
As of March 31, 2021, cash and cash equivalents increased ¥170.8
billion from the end of the previous fiscal year, to ¥738.8 billion.
Interest-bearing debt grew ¥136.1 billion from the end of the
previous fiscal year to ¥755.9 billion. As a result, after subtracting
cash and cash equivalents from interest-bearing debt, net interestbearing debt amounted to ¥17.1 billion.
Net cash provided by operating activities increased to ¥120.1
billion, compared with ¥34.8 billion in the previous fiscal year,
mainly reflecting income before income taxes of ¥2.2 billion and a
decrease in inventories.
Net cash used in investing activities was ¥78.9 billion,
compared with ¥127.6 billion in the previous fiscal year, mainly
reflecting capital expenditure for the acquisition of property, plant
and equipment of ¥71.8 billion.
As a result of this, consolidated free cash flow (net of cash flow
from operating activities and investment activities) was positive
¥41.2 billion, compared with the previous fiscal year's negative
free cash flow of ¥92.7 billion.
Net cash provided by financing activities was ¥99.3 billion,
compared with net cash used in financing activities of ¥24.3 billion in the previous fiscal year, reflecting the procurement of funds
in preparation for the business fund risks associated with the
global outbreak of COVID-19.
YoY

Fiscal Year
March 2020
Full year

Fiscal Year
March 2021
Full year

Operating cash flows

34.8

120.1

—

Investing cash flows

(127.6)

(78.9)

—

(92.7)

41.2

—

Cash and cash equivalents

568.0

738.8

+170.8

Interest-bearing debt

619.9

755.9

+136.1

51.9

17.1

(34.8)

Total assets

2,787.6

2,917.4

+129.8

Equity

1,174.9

1,181.7

+6.8

42%

41%

(2) points

(Billions of yen)

Cash Flows

Free cash flow

Net interest-bearing debt

Equity Ratio

Liquidity and Source of Funds
In order for the Mazda Group to reliably secure the funds needed
for business activities, the Company is striving to create cash flows.
Furthermore, the Company is procuring the necessary funds
through bank borrowing and the issuance of bonds for the purpose of allocating the capital expenditures necessary for manufacturing and selling automobiles and parts. The liquidity risks of the
Group are managed mainly through the preparation and update of
the cash schedule on a timely basis, and the Company maintains a
certain level of liquidity at hand in order to respond to sudden
changes in the external environment.
The Company also has systems and procedures in place that
allow us to respond flexibly to liquidity risks through managing the
funds of the Group and intercompany loans within the Group. In
addition, the Company ensures sufficient liquidity by entering into
commitment line agreements with domestic financial institutions.
At the end of fiscal year March 2021, liquidity,

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

comprising cash and cash equivalents of ¥738.8 billion, in addition to unused commitment credit lines of ¥200.0 billion,
amounted to ¥938.8 billion, which is equivalent to 3.9 months of
monthly sales.

Basic Dividend Policy, Dividends for Fiscal Years March
2021 and March 2022
Mazda strives to pay a stable dividend with steady increases under
a basic policy of determining the dividend amount by comprehensively taking into account the Company’s financial results for the
fiscal year, the business environment, and the Company’s financial
position.
For fiscal year March 2021, we forwent a dividend payout after
giving full consideration to the Company’s financial results for the
fiscal year and financial position. For fiscal year March 2022, we
plan to pay a full-year dividend of ¥15 per share, consisting of a ¥0
per share interim dividend and a ¥15 per share year-end dividend.

Forecast for Fiscal Year March 2022
In fiscal year March 2022, the business environment is expected to
remain uncertain due to the current shortage in supply of semiconductors and the increase in cost of precious metals and other
raw materials. In terms of sales, however, we aim to increase sales
volume, particularly in markets where there have been strong
sales, such as the U.S. and Australia, as well as recover sales
volume to the level before the COVID-19 pandemic in each
region. Regarding the consolidated financial forecast, by improving
the global volume and mix, as well as continuing to make fixed
costs, including marketing expenses and advertising costs, more
efficient, we will strive to maximize profit.
The forecast for consolidated earnings and global sales volume
are as follows.
Consolidated Earnings
(Billions of yen)

Fiscal Year
March 2022

YoY

3,400.0

+18.0%

Operating income

65.0

+637.0%

Ordinary income

55.0

+94.7%

Net income attributable to owners of the parent

35.0

—

U.S. dollars

109

+3

Euro

129

+5

Net sales

Foreign exchange rates (Yen)

Global Sales Volume
(Thousands of units)

Fiscal Year
March 2022

YoY

Japan

195

North America

414

+2.8%

Europe

225

+25.9%

China

260

+14.0%

Other Markets

316

+4.9%

1,410

+9.5%

Total

+10.5%
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BUSINESS RISKS

Significant risks that could affect the Mazda Group’s business
results and financial position include those listed below. This list,
however, shows the main risks anticipated at the end of fiscal
year March 2021 and does not represent a comprehensive list of
all the risks faced by the Group. The forward-looking statements
in this section are based on the judgments of the Group as of
the end of fiscal year March 2021.

Risks Associated with the External Environment
1

Economic Conditions Impacting the Mazda Group

Selling its products in Japan and other parts of the world, including in North America, Europe, and Asia, the Group is greatly
impacted by economic trends and fluctuations in demand in each of
its markets. Therefore, the Group’s business results and financial
position could be adversely affected by, for example, an economic
downturn, recession, changes in demand structure, declining
demand, and intensifying price competition in its main markets.
2

Fluctuations in Exchange Rates

The Group is engaged in business activities on a global scale.
The Group not only exports products from Japan to other parts
of the world but also exports products manufactured at overseas
plants to other markets in the world. These transactions are
conducted in various currencies, and consequently its business
results and financial position are exposed to the effects of fluctuations in exchange rates. In addition, as overseas assets and
liabilities denominated in local currencies are translated into
yen, there could be an adverse effect on shareholders’ equity
through foreign currency translation adjustments due to
exchange rate fluctuations. The Group uses forward exchange
contracts and other instruments to minimize the impact of
short-term exchange rate risk. However, depending on the circumstances of fluctuations in exchange rates, loss of opportunity
could be generated.
3

Statutory Regulations Covering the Environment

In addition to being subject to environmental regulations pertaining to fuel consumption and exhaust emissions, automobile
safety, and the pollutant emission levels from manufacturing
plants, the Group’s operations in each country where it does
business are subject to various statutory regulations, such as
labor regulations. In particular, the demand for carbon neutrality
is accelerating around the world. In order to fulfill its responsibility to society as a company, Mazda is working to reduce CO2
emissions from a well-to-wheel (from fuel extraction to driving)
perspective. We are working to help resolve issues with multielectrification solutions based on the electric power generating
infrastructure and usage environment of each country, as well as
the diversity of customers and their needs. However, going
forward, the Group’s business results and financial position
could be adversely affected by the increased costs associated
with even more stringent statutory and political regulations.
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4

Procurement of Materials and Components

The Group relies on numerous suppliers outside the Group for
the procurement of materials and components. For that reason,
the Group may face difficulties in procuring the necessary level
of materials and components for volume production, due to
supply constraints or reduced logistics functions in the event of
these suppliers being affected by a disaster, due to tight supply
balances, or due to changes to and breaches of supply contracts.
Should the Group be unable to absorb the effects of any
increases in the prices of the materials being procured by the
Company—for example, by making internal efforts to boost
productivity or passing on price rises to customers—or should
procured materials and components be of insufficient quality,
the possibility exists of a deterioration in output or higher costs,
which could adversely affect the Group’s business results and
financial position.
5

International Business Activities

In addition to Japan, the Group sells its products and carries out
business activities in markets in all parts of the world, including
the United States and Europe, as well as developing and emerging markets overseas. In these international markets, the Group
is subject to the following potential risks, which could affect the
Group’s business results and financial position if manifested:
• Adverse political and economic developments
• Impediments arising from changes in laws and regulations
• Import/export regulations, such as tariffs, detrimental taxes,
and other regulations
• Difficulties in attracting and securing personnel
• Undeveloped infrastructure
• Strikes and other labor disputes
• Terrorist incidents, war, disease, and other factors leading to
social disorder
Furthermore, the Group’s business results and financial position could be adversely affected by changes in circumstances
including the global spread of COVID-19 in the future.
6

Natural Disasters and Accidents

In addition to measures to protect its manufacturing sites and
other important facilities against fire and earthquakes, the
Group has concluded natural disaster insurance contracts and
taken other steps to minimize the financial risk of such events.
However, the ability of the Group to supply products may be
severely disrupted in the event of a major natural disaster, such
as an earthquake, typhoon, torrential rains, flood, fire, or other
accident, which could adversely affect the Group’s business
results and financial position.
7

 hanges in Financing Procurement Environment
C
and Interest Rate Fluctuations

In addition to loans from banks, the Group has been raising
funds by issuing its shares and bonds. However, in the event of
turmoil in financial markets, tax reforms or institutional changes
being made to government-affiliated financial organizations, or
the downgrading of the Group’s credit rating, the Group’s business results and financial position could be adversely affected
due to such factors as the increased funding costs and the difficulties associated with raising money for the amount of funds
required. Moreover, factoring in the effect of interest rate
changes on the Group’s interest-bearing debt, were the costs of
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financing to increase due to a rise in interest rates, the Group’s
business results and financial position could also be adversely
affected. In the event that any deterioration in the Group’s financial standing were to infringe upon the financial covenants of
some of the loans and lead to the forfeiture of the benefit of
time, the Group’s business results and financial position could
be adversely affected.

event that third parties use the Group’s intellectual property
rights on an unauthorized basis to produce similar products, the
Group may have to pay substantial expenses for litigation, or
experience a decline in sales due to an inability to offer unique
products. This could adversely affect the Group’s business results
and financial position.

Risks Associated with Business Activities

While striving to improve the quality of its products to meet the
requirements of the market, the Group also does its utmost to
ensure the safety of its products. However, should a defect
develop in a product due to unforeseen circumstances or a
large-scale recall occur, this could adversely affect the Group’s
business results and financial position due to such factors as the
incurring of significant costs, the Group’s diminished brand
image, and loss of market trust.

11
8

Alliances and Joint Ventures

The Group is performing or examining joint activities with other
companies under technology alliances, joint ventures, and in
other forms with respect to the development, production, and
sales of products. These joint activities are designed to optimize
resources, facilitate their prioritization, and generate synergies.
However, in the event of a disagreement over management,
financial, or other matters between the parties involved, or in
the event that the expected results were not produced due to
such factors as changes to or terminations of alliances and joint
ventures, the Group’s business results and financial position
could be adversely affected. In addition, unintended changes to
or terminations of alliances and joint ventures could have an
adverse effect on the Group’s business results and financial position.
9

Market Competitiveness

Automobile markets, in which Mazda sells its products, are
undergoing rapid changes in their industrial structures due to the
expansion of new added-value businesses represented by connected technology, autonomous driving technology, shared
services, and electrification technology, as well as a succession
of new entrants from other industries, resulting in an increasingly
competitive and diverse environment. Maintaining and enhancing the Group’s ability to compete in these markets, which
includes maintaining and developing the Mazda brand value, is
crucial to ensuring growth. The Group is implementing a range
of initiatives to boost its competitiveness in all areas, including
product planning and development, manufacturing, and sales,
in order to respond to these rapid changes. However, the
Group’s business results and financial position could be adversely
affected, including declines in market share or product prices, in
the event that the scope and speed of changes to the competitive environment exceed expectations or the Group fails to launch
appealing products at opportune times as a result of issues related
to technological capabilities and manufacturing. The same holds
true if the Group fails to take effective steps to respond to
changes in customer values and needs, which continue to rapidly diversify, through its dealership network or sales methods.
10

Protection of Intellectual Property

In order to maintain competitiveness, the Group is working to
accumulate and protect technologies and expertise that help it
to develop unique products. At the same time, the Group is
taking steps to prevent the infringement of third-party intellectual property rights. Nonetheless, should differences in recognition or opinion lead to a disputed infringement of third-party
intellectual property rights that results in the Group being forced
to halt the production and sales of products, or needing to pay
damages, this could also adversely affect the Group’s business
results and financial position. The Group’s intellectual property is
not subject to complete protection in certain regions. In the

12

Product Quality

Dependence on Information Technology

In the course of various business activities such as development,
production, and sales of products, the Group utilizes information technology, networks, and systems. The Group’s products
are also equipped with these technologies, including a driving
support system, etc. Despite countermeasures implemented in
information technology, networks, and systems to allow safe
operations, such factors as failures in infrastructure, cyberattacks,
and infection by computer viruses may result in suspension of
business activities, loss of data, leakage of confidential information, and deterioration in product functions. Should these events
occur, the Group’s business results and financial position could
be adversely affected due to the incurring of costs associated
with countermeasures, loss of product credibility, and damage to
the brand image, etc.
13

Compliance and Reputation

Commencing with information security efforts to protect personal information and confidential information, the Group has
taken preventive measures regarding compliance, such as compliance with the law. In addition, in the event of a compliancerelated incident being detected, the Group has a rapid response
system in place to prevent any impact on the Group’s social
credibility and reputation. However, the Group cannot guarantee that there is no possibility of a legal violation occurring in the
future. Should there be evidence of an illegal act or should the
rapidity and content of the response prove insufficient, the
Group’s social credibility and reputation could be harmed, and
the Group’s business results and financial position could be
adversely affected.
14

Forecasts

In November 2020, the Group announced its Medium-Term
Management Plan Revision (from fiscal year March 2020
through to fiscal year March 2026). If the execution of the various measures does not realize the expected benefits, owing to
such factors as substantial changes in the operating environment
and slower progress with the plan than projected, the Group’s
business results and financial position could be adversely
affected.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
Mazda Motor Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
As of March 31, 2020 and 2021

Thousands of
U.S. dollars
(Note 1)

Millions of yen
ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Trade notes and accounts receivable (Note 5)
Inventories (Notes 8 and 10)
Other current assets
Allowance for doubtful receivables
   Total current assets

Property, plant and equipment:
Land (Note 9)
Buildings and structures
Machinery, equipment and vehicles
Tools, furniture and fixtures
Leased assets
Construction in progress
Accumulated depreciation
   Net property, plant and equipment (Notes 10 and 18)
Intangible assets (Note 18)

Investments and other assets:
Investment securities (Note 5):
  Affiliated companies
  Other
Long-term loans receivable (Note 5)
Asset for retirement benefits (Note 20)
Deferred tax assets (Note 21)
Other investments and other assets
Allowance for doubtful receivables
   Total investments and other assets
Total assets
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2020

2021

¥    567,994
169,007
441,305
137,276
(970)
1,314,612

¥    738,793
167,533
433,049
152,023
(1,803)
1,489,595

$  6,655,793
1,509,306
3,901,342
1,369,577
(16,243)
13,419,775

418,104
538,522
912,946
276,761
27,632
78,357
2,252,322
(1,179,808)
1,072,514

417,027
549,059
893,991
281,970
31,100
113,733
2,286,880
(1,211,712)
1,075,168

3,757,000
4,946,477
8,053,973
2,540,270
280,180
1,024,622
20,602,522
(10,916,324)
9,686,198

40,097

42,914

152,011
61,989
6,807
3,736
91,829
44,438
(393)
360,417

123,173
80,259
1,861
6,660
61,120
37,009
(345)
309,737

¥   2,787,640

¥   2,917,414

2021

386,613

1,109,667
723,054
16,766
60,000
550,631
333,413
(3,108)
2,790,423
$ 26,283,009
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Thousands of
U.S. dollars
(Note 1)

Millions of yen
LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS

Current liabilities:
Short-term debt (Notes 5 and 10)
Long-term debt due within one year (Notes 5 and 10)
Trade notes and accounts payable (Note 5)
Income taxes payable
Accrued expenses (Note 5)
Reserve for warranty expenses
Other current liabilities (Note 21)
   Total current liabilities
Non-current liabilities:
Long-term debt due after one year (Notes 5 and 10)
Deferred tax liability related to land revaluation (Note 9)
Liability for retirement benefits (Note 20)
Other non-current liabilities (Note 21)
   Total non-current liabilities
   Total liabilities

2020

2021

2021

¥  121,364
41,614
364,784
16,022
257,492
87,168
44,499
932,943

¥    1,608
15,805
363,679
5,336
286,061
80,504
54,657
807,650

$    14,486
142,387
3,276,387
48,072
2,577,126
725,261
492,407
7,276,126

456,890
64,553
75,874
51,534
648,851
1,581,794

738,515
64,537
50,039
60,843
913,934
1,721,584

6,653,288
581,414
450,802
548,136
8,233,640
15,509,766

283,957

283,957

2,558,171

264,917
552,993

263,028
508,784

2,369,622
4,583,640

Contingent liabilities (Note 11)
Net assets:
Capital and retained earnings (Note 13):
  Common stock
   Authorized:	  
1,200,000,000 shares
    Issued:	   631,803,979 shares in 2020 and 2021
  Capital surplus
  Retained earnings
  
Treasury stock
(2,017,360 shares in 2020 and 2,018,122 shares in 2021)
    Total capital and retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss):
   Net unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities
   Deferred gains/(losses) on hedges
   Land revaluation (Note 9)
   Foreign currency translation adjustment
   Accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits
    Total accumulated other comprehensive income
Stock acquisition rights (Note 14)
Non-controlling interests
   Total net assets
Total liabilities and net assets

(2,186)
1,099,681

(2,187)
1,053,582

(19,703)
9,491,730

2,231
321
145,574
(48,256)
(24,604)
75,266
290
30,609
1,205,846
¥2,787,640

16,002
(312)
145,536
(30,897)
(2,181)
128,148
382
13,718
1,195,830
¥2,917,414

144,162
(2,811)
1,311,135
(278,351)
(19,649)
1,154,486
3,441
123,588
10,773,243
$26,283,009
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS
OF OPERATIONS AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Mazda Motor Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Operations
Thousands of
U.S. dollars
(Note 1)

Millions of yen

Net sales
Cost and expenses:
Cost of sales
Selling, general and administrative expenses (Note 15)

Operating income
Other income/(expenses):
Interest and dividend income
Interest expense
Equity in net income of affiliated companies
Other, net (Note 17)

Income before income taxes
Income taxes (Note 21):
Current
Refund of income taxes for prior periods
Deferred

Net income/(loss)
Net income/(loss) attributable to non-controlling interests
Net income/(loss) attributable to owners of the parent

2020

2021

¥3,430,285

¥2,882,066

$25,964,559

2,683,647
703,035
3,386,682

2,268,422
604,824
2,873,246

20,436,234
5,448,865
25,885,099

43,603

8,820

79,459

5,173
(8,034)
6,622
(10,379)
(6,618)

7,449
(6,132)
19,714
(15,352)
5,679
49,282

27,539
(11,766)
19,404
35,177

19,838

17,400
—
16,856
34,256

156,757
—
151,856
308,613
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¥19.26
19.25
35.00

(288,775)
(3,631)
$  (285,144)
U.S. dollars
(Note 1)

Yen

Amounts per share of common stock:
Net income/(loss):
  Basic
  Diluted
Cash dividends applicable to the year

46,604
(72,378)
59,658
(93,506)
(59,622)

2,202

(32,054)
(403)
¥  (31,651)

14,105
1,974
¥   12,131

2021

¥(50.26)
—
—

$(0.45)
—
—
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Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
Thousands of
U.S. dollars
(Note 1)

Millions of yen
2020

Net income/(loss)
Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Net unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities
Deferred gains/(losses) on hedges
Foreign currency translation adjustment
Adjustments for retirement benefits
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of affiliates
   accounted for using equity method
   Total other comprehensive income/(loss)
Comprehensive income
Comprehensive income/(loss) attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests

2021

2021

¥(32,054)

$(288,775)

(1,765)
(530)
(15,855)
(2,641)

13,754
(545)
19,698
22,384

123,910
(4,910)
177,459
201,658

1,618
(19,173)
¥ (5,068)

(2,780)
52,511
¥ 20,457

(25,045)
473,072
$ 184,297

(6,306)
1,238

21,269
(812)

191,612
(7,315)

¥ 14,105
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS
Mazda Motor Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021

Millions of yen
Capital and retained earnings

April 1, 2019

Common stock

Capital surplus

Retained earnings

¥ 283,957

¥ 264,913

¥ 562,904

—

—

(22,042)

Treasury stock

Total

¥ (2,215)

¥ 1,109,559

Increase/(decrease)
Dividends paid
 Net income/(loss) attributable
to owners of the parent

—

(22,042)

—

12,131

—

—

12,131

Purchase of treasury stock

—

—

—

(1)

(1)

Sale of treasury stock

—

3

—

30

33

Reversal for land revaluation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

 Changes in items other than capital and
retained earnings, net

—

—

Total changes during the fiscal year

—

3

¥283,957

¥264,917

—

—

(12,596)
(31,651)

 Change in ownership interest of
 parent arising from transactions
with non-controlling shareholders

April 1, 2020

—

—

(9,911)

—

29

¥552,993

(9,878)

¥(2,186)

¥1,099,681

Increase/(decrease)
Dividends paid
 Net income/(loss) attributable
to owners of the parent

—

(12,596)

—

(31,651)

—

—

Purchase of treasury stock

—

—

—

(1)

Sale of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

Reversal for land revaluation

—

—

38

—

38

—

—

 Change in ownership interest of
 parent arising from transactions
with non-controlling shareholders

—

 Changes in items other than capital and
retained earnings, net

—

Total changes during the fiscal year

—

March 31, 2021

(1,889)
—

—

(1,889)

¥283,957

(1,889)

—

(44,209)

¥263,028

(1)

—

(1)

¥508,784

(46,099)

¥(2,187)

¥1,053,582

Millions of yen
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
Net unrealized
gain/(loss) on
available-forsale securities

April 1, 2019

Deferred
gains/(losses)
on hedges

Land
revaluation

¥     4,008

¥   804

¥   145,574

—

—

—

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment

¥ (34,762)

Accumulated
adjustments
for retirement
benefits

¥(21,921)

Stock
acquisition
rights

Total

¥  93,703

¥ 255

—

—

Noncontrolling
interests

Total
net assets

¥  29,924 ¥1,233,441

Increase/(decrease)
Dividends paid
 Net income/(loss) attributable
to owners of the parent

—

—

—

(22,042)
12,131

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Purchase of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1)

Sale of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

33

Reversal for land revaluation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

 Change in ownership interest of
 parent arising from transactions
with non-controlling shareholders
 Changes in items other than capital and
retained earnings, net

(1,777)

(483)

—

(13,494)

(2,683)

(18,437)

35

685

(17,716)

Total changes during the fiscal year

(1,777)

(483)

—

(13,494)

(2,683)

(18,437)

35

685

(27,595)

¥ (48,256)

¥(24,604)

April 1, 2020

¥     2,231

¥   321

¥   145,574

—

—

—

¥  75,266

¥ 290

—

—

¥  30,609 ¥1,205,846

Increase/(decrease)
Dividends paid
 Net income/(loss) attributable
to owners of the parent

—

—

—

(12,596)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(31,651)

Purchase of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(1)

Sale of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Reversal for land revaluation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

38

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

 Change in ownership interest of
 parent arising from transactions
with non-controlling shareholders

(1,889)

 Changes in items other than capital and
retained earnings, net

13,771

(633)

(38)

17,359

22,423

52,882

92

(16,891)

36,083

Total changes during the fiscal year

13,771

(633)

(38)

17,359

22,423

52,882

92

(16,891)

(10,016)

¥16,002

¥(312)

¥128,148

¥382

March 31, 2021
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¥145,536

¥(30,897)

¥   (2,181)

¥ 13,718 ¥1,195,830
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Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)
Capital and retained earnings
Common stock

April 1, 2020

Capital surplus

Retained earnings

$ 2,558,171

$ 2,386,640

—

—

(113,477)
(285,144)

Treasury stock

$ 4,981,919

Total

$ (19,694)

$ 9,907,036

Increase/(decrease)
Dividends paid
 Net income/(loss) attributable
to owners of the parent

—

(113,477)

—

(285,144)

—

—

Purchase of treasury stock

—

—

—

(9)

Sale of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

Reversal for land revaluation

—

—

342

—

342

—

—

 Change in ownership interest of
 parent arising from transactions
with non-controlling shareholders

—

 Changes in items other than capital and
retained earnings, net

—

Total changes during the fiscal year

—

March 31, 2021

(17,018)
—

—

(17,018)

$2,558,171

$2,369,622

(9)

(17,018)

—

(398,279)

—

(9)

$4,583,640

(415,306)

$(19,703)

$9,491,730

Thousands of U.S. dollars (Note 1)
Accumulated other comprehensive income/(loss)
Net unrealized
gain/(loss) on
available-forsale securities

April 1, 2020

$  20,099

Deferred
gains/(losses)
on hedges

Land
revaluation

$  2,892 $ 1,311,477

Foreign
currency
translation
adjustment

$ (434,739)

Accumulated
adjustments
for retirement
benefits

Stock
acquisition
rights

Total

$(221,658) $   678,071

Noncontrolling
interests

$ 2,613 $  275,757

Total
net assets

$ 10,863,477

Increase/(decrease)
—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(113,477)

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(285,144)

Purchase of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

(9)

Sale of treasury stock

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Reversal for land revaluation

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

342

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Dividends paid
 Net income/(loss) attributable
to owners of the parent

 Change in ownership interest of
 parent arising from transactions
with non-controlling shareholders
 Changes in items other than capital and
retained earnings, net

124,063

(5,703)

(342)

156,388

202,009

476,415

828

(152,169)

Total changes during the fiscal year

124,063

(5,703)

(342)

156,388

202,009

476,415

828

(152,169)

March 31, 2021

$144,162

$(2,811) $1,311,135

$(278,351)

$ (19,649) $1,154,486

$3,441 $ 123,588

(17,018)

325,072
(90,234)
$10,773,243
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Mazda Motor Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries
Years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021

Thousands of
U.S. dollars
(Note 1)

Millions of yen
2021

2020

Cash flows from operating activities:
Income before income taxes
 Adjustments to reconcile income before income taxes to
net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities:
   Depreciation and amortization
  Impairment loss
   Increase/(decrease) in allowance for doubtful receivables
   Increase/(decrease) in reserve for warranty expenses
   Increase/(decrease) in liability for retirement benefits
   Interest and dividend income
  Interest expense
   Equity in net loss/(income) of affiliated companies
   Loss/(gain) on sale and retirement of property, plant and equipment, net
   Loss/(gain) on sale of investment securities, net
   Decrease/(increase) in trade notes and accounts receivable
   Decrease/(increase) in inventories
   Decrease/(increase) in other current assets
   Increase/(decrease) in trade notes and accounts payable
   Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities
  Other
   Subtotal
   Interest and dividends received
  Interest paid
   Income taxes refunded/(paid)
   Refund of income taxes for prior periods
     Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities:
Net decrease/(increase) in time deposits
Purchase of investment securities
Proceeds from sales and redemption of investment securities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment
Purchase of intangible assets
Net decrease/(increase) in short-term loans receivable
Payments of long-term loans receivable
Collections of long-term loans receivable
Other
     Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities
Cash flows from financing activities:
Net increase/(decrease) in short-term debt
Proceeds from long-term debt
Repayments of long-term debt
 Payments from changes in ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in change in scope of consolidation
Cash dividends paid
Cash dividends paid to non-controlling interests
Net decrease/(increase) in treasury stock
     Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the period
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2021

¥   2,202

$   19,838

92,269
797
(62)

89,765
1,355
847

808,694
12,207
7,631

(11,099)
2,669
(7,449)
6,132
(19,714)
3,536
(413)
18,334
(50,871)
14,403
(61,553)
(4,130)
(2,750)
29,381
30,766
(6,226)
(28,078)
8,991
34,834

(6,664)
2,796
(5,173)
8,034
(6,622)
4,383
(120)
5,785
30,051
(6,113)
(6,864)
19,591
(4,467)
128,786
23,452
(7,730)
(30,004)
5,554
120,058

(60,036)
25,189
(46,604)
72,378
(59,658)
39,486
(1,081)
52,117
270,730
(55,072)
(61,838)
176,495
(40,242)
1,160,234
211,279
(69,640)
(270,306)
50,036
1,081,603

60
(5,620)
1,063
(107,549)
1,476
(14,809)
274
(2,748)
239
36
(127,578)

759
(255)
1,785
(71,776)
1,462
(14,263)
263
(587)
3,848
(98)
(78,862)

6,838
(2,297)
16,081
(646,631)
13,171
(128,495)
2,369
(5,288)
34,667
(883)
(710,468)

(15)
51,160
(52,857)

(120,121)
291,575
(41,541)

(1,082,172)
2,626,802
(374,243)

(17,831)

(160,640)

(12,596)
(137)
(1)
99,348
30,255
170,799
567,994
¥ 738,793

(113,477)
(1,234)
(9)
895,027
272,568
1,538,730
5,117,063
$ 6,655,793

¥  49,282

—
(22,042)
(552)
32
(24,274)
(16,612)
(133,630)
701,624
¥ 567,994
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Mazda Motor Corporation and Consolidated Subsidiaries

1

BASIS OF PRESENTING CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mazda Motor Corporation (the “Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (together, the “Group”) have been prepared in accordance with the provisions set forth in the Financial Instruments and
Exchange Law of Japan and its related accounting regulations and in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
Japan (“Japanese GAAP”), which are different in certain respects as to application and disclosure requirements from International
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).
For the convenience of readers outside Japan, the accompanying consolidated financial statements have been reformatted and
translated into English from the consolidated financial statements of the Group prepared in accordance with Japanese GAAP and
filed with the appropriate Local Finance Bureau of the Ministry of Finance as required by the Financial Instruments and Exchange
Law of Japan. Certain supplementary information included in the statutory Japanese language consolidated financial statements is
not presented in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
The conversion of the Japanese yen into U.S. dollars is included solely for the convenience of readers outside Japan, using the
prevailing exchange rate at March 31, 2021, which was ¥111 to U.S. $1.00. The conversions should not be construed as representations that the Japanese yen have been, could have been, or could in the future be converted into U.S. dollars at this or any other
rate of exchange.
2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION
The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the Company and companies, over which the Company has power
of control through majority voting rights or there are certain conditions evidencing control by the Company. Investments in affiliates, over which the Company has the ability to exercise significant influence over operating and financial policies of the investees,
are accounted for under the equity method.
The consolidated financial statements include the Company and 70 subsidiaries (69 in the year ended March 31, 2020).
In addition, 18 affiliates (18 in the year ended March 31, 2020) are accounted for under the equity method.
The consolidated balance sheet date is March 31. Among the consolidated subsidiaries, 23 companies have fiscal y ear-ends
for their statutory financial statements that are different from the consolidated balance sheet date, most of which are December
31. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, for 9 of the 23 companies, provisional settlement of accounts that are
prepared for consolidation are used to supplement the companies’ statutory financial statements. For the other 14 companies,
in preparing the consolidated financial statements, financial statements of these companies with different balance sheet dates are
used. However, adjustments necessary in consolidation are made for material transactions that have occurred between the
balance sheet date of these subsidiaries and the consolidated balance sheet date.

FOREIGN CURRENCY CONVERSION
Receivables and payables denominated in foreign currencies are converted into Japanese yen at the exchange rate at the year-end;
gains and losses in foreign currency conversion are included in the income for the current period.
Balance sheet accounts of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are converted into Japanese yen at the rates on the subsidiaries’
balance sheet dates except for net assets accounts, which are converted at the historical rates. Income statement accounts
of consolidated foreign subsidiaries are converted into Japanese yen at the average rates during the subsidiaries’ accounting
periods, with the conversion differences prorated and included in the net assets as a foreign currency conversion adjustment
and non-controlling interests in the consolidated subsidiaries.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
The Group considers all highly liquid short-term investments with a minimum risk of price fluctuation, whose maturity date comes
within three months from the time of purchase, to be cash equivalents.

SECURITIES
Securities are classified as (a) securities held for trading purposes (hereafter, “trading securities”), (b) debt securities intended to
be held to maturity (hereafter, “held-to-maturity debt securities”), (c) equity securities issued by the unconsolidated subsidiaries
and affiliated companies, and (d) all other securities that are not classified in any of the above categories (hereafter, “available-forsale securities”).
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The Group does not have trading securities or held-to-maturity debt securities. Equity securities issued by unconsolidated
subsidiaries and affiliated companies that, based on the applicable materiality provisions of Japanese GAAP, are not accounted for
under the equity method are stated at moving-average cost.
Available-for-sale securities with available fair market values are stated at fair market value. Unrealized gains and unrealized
losses on these securities are reported, net of applicable income taxes, as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income within net assets. Realized gains and losses on the sale of such securities are computed using moving-average
cost. Available-for-sale securities without available fair market values are stated mainly at moving-average cost.
If the fair market value of equity securities issued by unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies not on the equity
method and of available-for-sale securities declines significantly, such securities are stated at fair market value and the difference
between fair market value and the carrying amount is recognized as a loss in the period of the decline. If the fair market value
of equity securities issued by unconsolidated subsidiaries and affiliated companies not on the equity method and of available-forsale securities is not readily available and the net asset value declines significantly, such securities shall be written down to net
asset value with a corresponding charge to income. In these cases, such fair market value or the net asset value will be the carrying
amount of the securities at the beginning of the next fiscal year.

DERIVATIVES AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING
Derivative financial instruments are mainly stated at fair value, and changes in the fair value are recognized as gains or losses
unless derivative financial instruments are used for hedging purposes and meet criteria for hedge accounting.
If derivative financial instruments are used as hedges and meet certain hedging criteria, recognition of gains or losses resulting
from changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments is deferred until the related losses or gains on the hedged items
are recognized.
Also, if interest rate swap contracts are used as hedges and meet certain hedging criteria, the net amount to be paid or received
under the interest rate swap contract is added to or deducted from the interest on the assets or liabilities for which the swap
contract was executed.

INVENTORIES
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (determined principally by the average method), or net realizable value.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (EXCEPT FOR LEASED ASSETS)
Property, plant and equipment are stated principally at cost. Depreciation is computed mainly using the straight-line method over
the estimated useful lives of the assets with a residual value at the end of useful lives to be a memorandum value.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (EXCEPT FOR LEASED ASSETS)
Intangible assets are amortized using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets.
Software for internal use is amortized on a straight-line basis over the period of internal use, i.e., 5 years.

AMORTIZATION OF GOODWILL
The difference between the consideration transferred and the fair value of net assets acquired is shown as goodwill, and amortized
on a straight-line basis over a period (primarily 5 years) during which each investment is expected to generate benefits.

LEASED ASSETS
FINANCE LEASES IN WHICH OWNERSHIP IS NOT TRANSFERRED TO THE LESSEE
Contents of leased assets are as follows. Property, plant and equipment are mainly sales administration facilities, parts of automobile manufacturing equipment and molds, and electronic calculators. Intangible assets are software.
Finance leases are capitalized on the balance sheet. Depreciation or amortization expense is recognized on a straight-line basis
over the lease period.
For leases with a guaranteed minimum residual value, the contracted residual value is considered to be the residual value
for financial accounting purposes. For other leases, the residual value is zero.

26

Mazda Annual Report 2021

CONTENTS

Message from the
President and CEO

Financial Section

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

The consolidated foreign subsidiaries that apply IFRS adopted IFRS 16 “Leases” (“IFRS 16”). In accordance with IFRS 16,
the lessee recognizes substantially all of the lease assets and lease liabilities on the balance sheet. For lease assets, depreciation or
amortization expense is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease period.

ALLOWANCE FOR DOUBTFUL RECEIVABLES
Allowance for doubtful receivables provides for losses from bad debt. The amount estimated to be uncollectible is recognized; for
receivables at an ordinary risk, it is based on the past default ratio, and for receivables at a high risk, it is calculated in consideration of collectibility of individual receivables.

RESERVE FOR WARRANTY EXPENSES
Reserve for warranty expenses provides for after-sales expenses of products (vehicles). In accordance with the coverage of the
warranty booklet and the related laws and regulations, the amount is estimated per product warranty provisions and actual costs
incurred in the past, taking future prospects and expected reibursements into consideration.

EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS
The Group provides various types of post-employment benefit plans, including lump-sum plans, defined benefit pension plans,
and defined contribution pension plans, under which all eligible employees are entitled to benefits based on the level of wages
and salaries at the time of retirement or termination, length of service, and certain other factors.
In calculating the retirement benefit obligations, the method of attributing expected benefit to the accounting period is based
mainly on a benefit formula basis.
The recognition of actuarial differences is deferred on the straight-line basis over a period equal to or less than the average
remaining service period of employees at the time such gains or losses are realized (mainly 13 years). The amortization of net
gains or losses starts from the year immediately following the year in which such gains or losses arise.
The recognition of past service costs is deferred on a straight-line basis over a period equal to or less than the average
remaining service period of employees at the time such cost is incurred (mainly 12 years).

INCOME TAXES
Income taxes comprise corporation, enterprise, and inhabitants taxes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized to
reflect the estimated tax effects attributable to temporary differences and tax loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
are measured using the enacted tax rates that are expected to apply when the temporary differences are expected to reverse.
The measurement of deferred tax assets is reduced by a valuation allowance, if necessary, by the amount of any tax benefits that
are not expected to be realized.
The Company and its wholly owned domestic subsidiaries elect to file a consolidated corporate tax return as a consolidation
group.
For items amended in relation to the introduction of the group tax sharing system under the “Act on Partial Revision of the
Income Tax Act, etc.,” the Company and some of its consolidated domestic subsidiaries recognize deferred tax assets and deferred
tax liabilities based on the provisions of pre-amended tax laws instead of applying paragraph 44 of the “Implementation Guidance
on Tax Effect Accounting,” according to paragraph 3 of the “Treatment of Tax Effect Accounting for the Transition from the
Consolidated Taxation System to the Group Tax Sharing System.”

AMOUNTS PER SHARE OF COMMON STOCK
The calculations of net income per share of common stock are based on the average number of shares outstanding during each
year. Diluted net income per share of common stock is calculated based on the average number of shares outstanding during each
year after giving effect to the diluting potential of common stock to be issued upon the exercise of stock acquisition rights and
stock options.
Cash dividends per share represent amounts applicable for the respective years on an accrual basis.
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION
ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES REGARDING THE IMPACT OF NOVEL CORONAVIRUS
As the impact of the novel coronavirus pandemic is still unpredictable, the Company has assessed the recoverability of deferred
tax assets assuming the limited impact will continue in the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022.
It should be noted that the changes in the assumptions including the global spread of the novel coronavirus in the future may
affect the Company’s consolidated financial results.
3

S IGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

Accounting Estimates are calculated based on the information available at the time of preparation of consolidated financial statements. Accounting estimates that are recorded in the consolidated financial statements for the current fiscal year and have a risk
of a material effect on consolidated financial statements for the next fiscal year are as follows:

IMPAIRMENT OF LONG-LIVED ASSETS
1) Amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
 Of which, the balance of the Company’s property, plant and equipment and intangible assets

¥1,118,082
¥  708,860

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

$10,072,811
$ 6,386,126

2) Other information that assists readers of consolidated financial statements in understanding the nature of the estimates:
In applying the Accounting Standard for Impairment of Fixed Assets, the Group principally groups its long-lived assets at each
operating company level and assesses whether indicators of impairment exist. Idle assets, assets held for leasing, and assets held
for sale, however, are assessed individually. When there is an indicator of impairment, the Group estimates the future cash flows
of each asset group and determines if an impairment loss shall be recognized.
While the Company recorded net losses from operations for the fiscal years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021, the Company
expects net income from operations for the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022. Since there were no other events or circumstances
that might indicate impairment, the Company determined that there was no impairment indicator for its operating assets.
On the other hand, the next year’s budget, which was the basis for the forecasts of profit or loss from operations for the
following fiscal year, included significant assumptions involving estimation uncertainty, such as the prospects for consolidated
wholesales volume assuming a certain business environment that incorporated the effects of the shortage of semiconductors, etc.,
the results of manufacturing cost improvement measures, the impact of rising raw material prices, including precious metals, as
well as transaction prices between the Company and its subsidiaries, which required management judgment. Therefore, if
changes in the market environment, etc. cause significant changes to these assumptions, it may be necessary to record an impairment loss on long-lived assets.

RECOVERRABILITY OF DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
1) Amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Deferred tax assets
Of which, the balance of the Company’s deferred tax assets
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Thousands of
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2) Other information that assists readers of consolidated financial statements in understanding the nature of the estimates:
Based on the estimated future taxable income, deferred tax assets are recognized for tax loss carryforwards and deductible
temporary differences to the extent that they are expected to reduce the amount of future tax payments.
The estimated future taxable income, which was used to assess the recoverability of deferred tax assets, was based on the next
year’s budget prepared by management. Accordingly, it included significant assumptions involving estimation uncertainty, such as
the prospects for consolidated wholesales volume assuming a certain business environment that incorporated the effect of the
shortage of semiconductors, etc., the results of manufacturing cost improvement measures, the impact of rising raw material
prices, including precious metal, as well as transaction prices between the Company and its subsidiaries, which required management judgment. Therefore, if changes in the market environment, etc. cause significant changes to these assumptions and reduce
the estimated future taxable income, the amount of deferred tax assets may be reduced and additional tax costs may be incurred.

RESERVE FOR WARRANTY EXPENSES
1) Amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021
Millions of yen

Reserve for warranty expenses

¥80,504

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

$725,261

2) Other information that assists readers of consolidated financial statements in understanding the nature of the estimates:
For after-sales service expenses of products, the Group estimates future repair costs to be incurred in accordance with the
coverage of the warranty booklet (“general warranty”) and with the related laws and regulations such as recalls and service
campaigns (“recall-related repair costs”), and records them in the reserve for product warranty expenses. The estimation also
reflects the expected reimbursement amounts to be recovered from the supplier.
Of the above, the reserve for general warranty is estimated by calculating the repair cost per vehicle for each major market
based on historical data, and multiplying it by the number of vehicles covered under the warranty. The reserve for recall-related
repair costs is estimated for each recall and service campaign. It is estimated by calculating the repair cost per vehicle, which
includes parts costs and labor costs, and multiplying it by the estimated number of vehicles subject to each recall and service
campaign. With regard to the expected reimbursement amounts to be recovered from the supplier, based upon the analysis of the
causes of defects, the expected reimbursement rate is determined by considering technical responsibility, the suppliers’ payment
ability, and the status of negotiations with suppliers. It is then incorporated into the calculation of the reserve.
The expected reimbursement rate included management’s assessment of technical responsibility, involved uncertainty, and was
dependent upon future negotiations with suppliers. Therefore, if the actual reimbursement rate in the future is different from the
reimbursement rate used for the estimation, additional recognition or reversal of reserve for warranty expenses may be required.
4

A CCOUNTING

CHANGES

NEW ACCOUNTING STANDARDS NOT YET APPLIED
- “Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” (ASBJ Statement No. 29, March 31, 2020)
- “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Revenue Recognition” (ASBJ Guidance No. 30, March 26, 2021)
1) Summary
The International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) have jointly developed comprehensive principles for revenue recognition and issued “Revenue from Contracts with Customers” (IFRS 15 by the IASB
and ASU 2014-09 by the FASB) in May 2014. Based on the application of IFRS 15 from the year beginning on or after January 1,
2018 and ASU 2014-09 from the year beginning after December 15, 2017, the Accounting Standards Board of Japan (“ASBJ”)
developed comprehensive principles for revenue recognition and issued the above standard and guidance.
From the viewpoint of comparability, ASBJ started developing the new revenue recognition standard in incorporating the basic
principle of IFRS 15, and added some sections in considering the Japanese practice to the extent that they do not impair comparability with other accounting standards.
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2) Effective date
Effective from the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022.
3) Effects of the application of the standards
The Company is to adjust the cumulative effect of applying these new standards by decreasing the beginning retained
earnings of the year ending March 31, 2022, and this will decrease the retained earnings by approximately ¥9,000 million
($81,081 thousand).
- ASU 2016-02 “Leases”
1) Summary
Under this accounting standard, a lessee is required to recognize assets and liabilities for almost all of the assets on a
balance sheet.
2) Effective date
Effective from the year ending March 31, 2023.
3) Effects of the application of the standards
The impact is yet to be determined at this time.
- “Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Statement No. 30, July 4, 2019)
- “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (ASBJ Guidance No. 31, July 4, 2019)
- “Accounting Standard for Measurement of Inventories” (ASBJ Statement No. 9, July 4, 2019)
- “Accounting Standard for Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Statement No. 10, July 4, 2019)
- “Implementation Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” (ASBJ Guidance No. 19, March 31, 2020)
1) Summary
In order to enhance comparability with internationally recognized accounting standards, “Accounting Standard for Fair Value
Measurement” and “Implementation Guidance on Accounting Standard for Fair Value Measurement” (together, “Fair Value
Accounting Standards”) were developed, and guidance on methods measuring fair value was issued. Fair Value Accounting
Standards are applicable to the fair value measurement of the following items:
Financial instruments in “Accounting Standard for Financial Instruments”
Inventories held for trading purposes in “Accounting Standard for Measurement of Inventories”
Additionally, “Implementation Guidance on Disclosures about Fair Value of Financial Instruments” was revised to establish notes
including a breakdown by the market value level of financial instruments.
2) Effective date
Effective from the beginning of the fiscal year ending March 31, 2022.
3) Effects of the application of the standards
The application of this accounting standard does not have a material impact on the consolidated financial statements.

CHANGES IN PRESENTATION
APPLICATION OF “ACCOUNTING STANDARD FOR DISCLOSURE OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES”
The “Accounting Standard for Disclosure of Accounting Estimates” (ASBJ Statement No. 31, March 31, 2020) has been applied
in the fiscal year ended March 31, 2021, and notes regarding significant accounting estimates are included in the consolidated
financial statements.
However, information for the previous fiscal year is not described in the notes in accordance with the transitional treatment
prescribed in the proviso of paragraph 11 of this accounting standard.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

QUALITATIVE INFORMATION ON FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
POLICIES FOR USING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The Group finances cash mainly through bank loans and the issuance of bonds for the purpose of planned capital investment.
Temporary surplus funds are managed through investments in low-risk assets. Short-term operating funds are financed mainly
through bank loans and commercial papers. Our policies on derivative instruments are to use them to hedge risks, as discussed
below, and not to conduct speculative transactions.

DETAILS OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND THE EXPOSURES TO RISK
Trade notes and accounts receivable, while due within one year, are subject to customers’ credit risks. Accounts receivable
denominated in foreign currencies are subject to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates; such risk is hedged, in
principle, by netting the foreign-currency-denominated accounts receivable against accounts payable and applying foreign
exchange forward contracts on the resulting net position.
Short-term investments consist mainly of certificates of deposit and other highly-liquid short-term investments. Investment
securities consist mainly of stocks of our business partner companies and are subject to the risk of market price fluctuations and
other factors. Long-term loans receivable are provided mainly to our business partner companies.
Trade notes and accounts payable, as well as other accounts payable, are due within one year. Of these payables, those
denominated in foreign currencies are subject to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates. However, for the most
part, the balance of such payables is constantly less than that of the accounts receivable denominated in the same foreign
currency. For other pars, such payables are hedged, as necessary, through foreign exchange forward contracts, considering the
transaction amounts and the degree of risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuation.
Loans payable, bonds payable, and lease obligations are mainly used to finance cash required for capital investment. The
longest time to maturity of these liabilities is 55 years and 4 months from March 31, 2021 (56 years and 4 month in the year
ended March 31, 2020).
Derivative instruments consist of foreign exchange forward contracts. For details on derivative instruments, refer to “Derivatives
and Hedge Accounting” under Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” and Note 7, “Derivatives.”

POLICIES AND PROCESSES FOR MANAGING RISK
MANAGEMENT OF CREDIT RISKS (I.E., RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE DEFAULT OF COUNTERPARTIES)
The Group manages credit risks in compliance with internal control rules and procedures.
The due dates and the balances of trade notes, accounts receivable, and loans receivable from major counterparties are
monitored and managed in order to detect early and mitigate the risk of doubtful receivables.
Short-term investments and derivative transactions are executed only with banks with high credit ratings. As such, the credit
risks of these short-term investments and derivative transactions are considered to be minimal. The credit risks of counterparty
financial institutions are reviewed on a quarterly basis.
The amount of maximum risk as of March 31, 2021 is represented by the balance sheet amount of financial assets exposed to
credit risks.
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MANAGEMENT OF MARKET RISKS (I.E., RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH FLUCTUATIONS IN FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATES AND INTEREST RATES)
The Group hedges the risk of foreign exchange rate fluctuation on foreign-currency-denominated receivables and payables, using
foreign exchange forward contracts, on a monthly and individual currency basis. Foreign exchange forward contracts are executed
as necessary, up to 6 months ahead, on foreign-currency-denominated receivables and payables that are expected to arise with
certainty as a result of forecasted export and import transactions.
The Company and some of its consolidated subsidiaries use interest rate swaps in order to reduce the risk of interest rate
fluctuation on loans payable.
For details on management of derivative transactions, refer to Note 7, “Derivatives”.
With regard to short-term investments and investment securities, their fair values as well as the financial standing of their
issuing entities are monitored on a regular basis. Ownership of available-for-sale securities are reviewed on a continuous basis.

MANAGEMENT OF LIQUIDITY RISKS RELATED TO FINANCING (I.E., RISKS OF NON-PERFORMANCE OF
PAYMENTS ON THEIR DUE DATES)
The liquidity risks of the Group are managed mainly through the preparation and update of the cash schedule on a timely basis,
and the Company maintains a certain level of liquidity at hand in order to respond to sudden changes in external environment.
The Company also has systems and procedures in place that allow us to respond flexibly to liquidity risks through managing the
funds of the Group and intercompany loans within the Group. In addition, the Company ensures sufficient liquidity by entering
into commitment line agreements with domestic financial institutions.

FAIR VALUES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
As of March 31, 2020 and 2021, the carrying values on the consolidated balance sheet, the fair values, and the differences
between these amounts, respectively, of financial instruments were as follows. Financial instruments for which fair value is
deemed highly difficult to measure are excluded from the following table. Cash and cash equivalents and Short-term investments
are also excluded since the carrying values approximate fair values.
Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2020

Assets:
1) Trade notes and accounts receivable
   Allowance for doubtful receivables (*1)
    Trade notes and accounts receivable, net
2) Investment securities
  Available-for-sale securities
3) Long-term loans receivable (*2)
   Allowance for doubtful receivables (*3)
    Long-term loans receivable, net
    Total
Liabilities:
1) Trade notes and accounts payable
2) Other accounts payable (*4)
3) Short-term debt
4) Long-term debt
    Total
Derivative instruments: (*5)
1) Hedge accounting not applied
2) Hedge accounting applied
    Total
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Carrying values

Fair values

Difference

¥  169,007
(129)
¥  168,878

¥  168,878

¥   —

60,508
7,053
(133)
6,920
¥  236,306

60,508

—

6,920
¥  236,306

—
¥   —

¥  364,784
32,265
121,364
498,504
¥1,016,917

¥  364,784
32,265
121,364
499,074
¥1,017,487

¥   —
—
—
570
¥570

¥      970
438
¥    1,408

¥      970
438
¥    1,408

¥   —
—
¥   —
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Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2021

Assets:
1) Trade notes and accounts receivable
  Allowance for doubtful receivables (*1)
    Trade notes and accounts receivable, net
2) Investment securities
  Available-for-sale securities
3) Long-term loans receivable (*2)
   Allowance for doubtful receivables (*3)
    Long-term loans receivable, net
    Total
Liabilities:
1) Trade notes and accounts payable
2) Other accounts payable (*4)
3) Short-term debt
4) Long-term debt
   Total
Derivative instruments: (*5)
1) Hedge accounting not applied
2) Hedge accounting applied
    Total

Carrying values

Fair values

Thousands of U.S. dollars
Difference

¥ 167,533
(172)
167,361 ¥ 167,361
78,888
78,888
3,768
(18)
3,750
3,750
¥ 249,999 ¥ 249,999
¥ 363,679
47,962
1,608
754,320
¥1,167,569
¥
¥

¥ 363,679
47,962
1,608
759,709
¥1,172,958

(1,377) ¥
(346)
(1,723) ¥

(1,377)
(346)
(1,723)

¥

Carrying values

Fair values

Difference

$ 1,509,306
(1,549)
$ 1,507,757 $ 1,507,757

—
—

$

—
—

710,703
710,703
33,946
(162)
33,784
33,784
$ 2,252,244 $ 2,252,244

—
—
—
5,389
¥5,389

$ 3,276,387 $ 3,276,387
432,090
432,090
14,486
14,486
6,795,675
6,844,225
$10,518,638 $10,567,188

$

¥

$

$

¥
¥

¥

—
—
—

$

(12,405) $
(3,117)
(15,522) $

—
—

$

—
—

—
—
—
48,550
$ 48,550

(12,405)
(3,117)
(15,522)

$

—
—
—

(*1) Allowance for doubtful receivables, which is recognized on the basis of each individual accounts receivable, is excluded.
(*2) Long-term loans receivable include those due within one year, which are included in “other current assets” on the consolidated balance sheets.
(*3) Allowance for doubtful receivables, which is recognized on the basis of each individual long-term loans receivable, is excluded.
(*4) Other accounts payable is included in accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.
(*5) Receivables and payables resulting from derivative transactions are offset against each other and presented on a net basis; when a net liability results,
the net amount is shown in ( ).

The financial instruments in the following table are excluded from “Assets: 2) Investment securities” in the above tables because
measuring the fair value of these instruments is deemed highly difficult; market prices of these instruments are not available and future
cash flows from these instruments are not contracted.
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
Carrying values
As of March 31

2020

Carrying values
2021

2021

Available-for-sale securities:
Non-listed equity securities
Investment securities of affiliated companies
  Total

¥  1,481

¥  1,371

152,011

123,173

$   12,351
1,109,667

¥153,492

¥124,544

$1,122,018

BASIS OF MEASURING FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair values of some financial instruments are based on market prices. When market prices are unavailable, the fair values
are based on reasonably estimated values. The estimated values may vary depending on the assumptions and variables used in the
estimation.

ASSETS
1) Trade notes and accounts receivable
Trade notes and accounts receivable with short maturities are stated at carrying value as it approximates fair value.
2) Investment securities
For listed stocks included in investment securities, their quoted prices on the stock exchange are used as their fair values.
For notes on securities by classification, refer to “Securities” under Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” and
Note 6, “Securities.”
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3) Long-term loans receivable
Long-term loans receivable consist of variable interest loans. As such, the interest rates on these loans reflect the market rates
of interest within short periods of time. Also, the credit standings of borrowers of these loans have not changed significantly since
the execution of these loans. Accordingly, the carrying values are used as the fair values of these loans receivable. For loans receivable at a high risk, the fair value is calculated mainly based on amounts estimated to be collectible through collateral and
guarantees.

LIABILITIES
1) Trade notes and accounts payable, 2) Other accounts payable, and 3) Short-term debt
These payables are settled within short periods of time. Hence, their carrying values approximate their fair values. Accordingly,
carrying values are used as the fair values of these payables.
4) Long-term debt
a) Bonds payable
	The fair value of bonds issued by the Group is based on the market price where such a price is available. Otherwise, the sum of
the present value of principal and interest payments is used as the fair value of bonds payable. The discount rates used in
computing the present value reflect the time to maturity of the bonds as well as credit risk.
b) Long-term loans payable and c) Finance lease obligations
	The fair value of these liabilities is calculated by the sum of the principal and interest payments discounted to present value,
using the imputed interest rate that would be required to newly execute a similar borrowing or lease transaction.

DERIVATIVE INSTRUMENTS
Refer to Note 7, “Derivatives.”

SCHEDULED AMOUNT OF RECEIVABLES
Scheduled amounts of receivables were as follows:
Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2020

Trade notes and accounts receivable
Long-term loans receivable
Total

Within
1 year

¥169,007

Over 1 year,
Over 5 years,
within 5 years within 10 years Over 10 years

—

¥ —

246

¥

6,441

208

¥ —
158

¥169,253

¥ 6,441

¥208

¥158

Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2021

Trade notes and accounts receivable
Long-term loans receivable
Total

Within
1 year

¥167,533

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Over 1 year,
Over 5 years,
within 5 years within 10 years Over 10 years

¥

Within
1 year

Over 1 year,
Over 5 years,
within 5 years within 10 years Over 10 years

—

¥ —

¥—

$1,509,306

—

$ —

1,907

1,731

106

24

17,180

$

15,595

955

$ —
216

¥169,440

¥1,731

¥106

¥24

$1,526,486

$15,595

$955

$216

For the schedule of repayment of long-term debt after the consolidated balance sheet date, refer to Note 10, “Short-Term Debt
and Long-Term Debt.”
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SECURITIES

The acquisition costs and the carrying values of available-for-sale securities with market values as of March 31, 2020 and 2021
were as follows:
Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2020

Stocks
Other
Total

Acquisition costs

Carrying values

¥55,974
1,015

¥59,535
973

Difference

¥3,561
(42)

¥56,989

¥60,508

¥3,519

Acquisition costs

Carrying values

Difference

¥54,660
1,073
¥55,733

¥77,710
1,178
¥78,888

¥23,050
105
¥23,155

Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2021

Stocks
Other
Total

7

Thousands of U.S. dollars
Acquisition costs

$492,432
9,667
$502,099

Carrying values

$700,090
10,613
$710,703

Difference

$207,658
946
$208,604

D ERIVATIVES

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to reduce foreign exchange risk and interest rate risk and to determine cash flows.
The Group uses forward foreign exchange contracts for the purpose of mitigating future risks of fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange. Also, for the purpose of mitigating future risks of fluctuations in interest rates with respect to borrowings, the Group
uses interest rate swap contracts. The Group does not engage in speculative transactions as a matter of policy, limiting the transaction amount to actual demand.
Forward foreign exchange contracts are subject to risks of foreign exchange rate changes. Also, interest rate swap contracts are
subject to risks of interest rate changes.
Use of derivatives to manage these risks could result in the risk of a counterparty defaulting on a derivative contract.
However, the Company believes that the risk of a counterparty defaulting is minimal since the Group uses only highly credible
financial institutions as counterparties.
Derivative transactions are conducted in compliance with internal control rules and procedures that prescribe transaction
authority. The policies for derivative transactions of the Group are approved by the Company’s President or Financial Officer.
Transactions are approved in advance by either the Company’s Financial Services Division General Manager or Treasury
Department General Manager. Based on these approvals, the Treasury Department conducts and books the transactions as well as
confirms the balance between the counterparty of the derivatives contract.
The operation of the transaction is segregated from its clerical administration, in order to maintain internal check within the
Treasury Department, and is audited periodically by the Global Auditing Department. Derivative transactions are reported, upon
execution, to the Company’s Financial Officer, Financial Services Division General Manager, and Treasury Department General
Manager. The consolidated subsidiaries also follow internal control rules and procedures pursuant to those of the Company,
obtain an approval of the Company, and conduct and manage the transactions according to the approval.
As the important conditions concerning the hedging instrument and the hedged item are the same, it is expected that the
effects of currency and interest rate fluctuations will be canceled or restricted to a certain extent at the beginning of the hedge and
continuing thereafter. Therefore, judgment on the effectiveness of hedging is omitted.
The following summarizes hedging derivative financial instruments used by the Group and items hedged:
Hedging instruments
Hedged items
		 Forward foreign exchange contracts		Foreign currency-denominated transactions planned in the future
		 Interest rate swap contracts		 Long-term loans payable
The following tables summarize fair value information as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 of derivative transactions for which hedge
accounting has not been applied:
The amount in the contract itself does not indicate the market risk related to derivative transactions.
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1) Currency related
Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2020

Contract
amount

Thereof due
after 1 year

Estimated
fair value

Valuation
gain (loss)

Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Sell:
  Euro
  Canadian dollar
  Australian dollar
Buy:
  Thai baht
   Total

¥ 4,882
7,081
3,742

¥—
—
—

¥ 103
572
433

¥ 103
572
433

4,289
¥19,994

—
¥—

(138)
¥ 970

(138)
¥ 970

As of March 31, 2021

Contract
amount

Millions of yen

Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Sell:
  Euro
  Canadian dollar
  Australian dollar
Buy:
  Thai baht
   Total

Thereof due
after 1 year

Thousands of U.S. dollars

Estimated
fair value

Valuation
gain (loss)

Contract
amount

Thereof due
after 1 year

Estimated
fair value

Valuation
gain (loss)

¥19,875
8,645
10,701

¥—
—
—

¥  (604)
(576)
(260)

¥  (604)
(576)
(260)

$179,055
77,883
96,405

$—
—
—

$ (5,441) $ (5,441)
(5,189)
(5,189)
(2,342)
(2,342)

5,240
¥44,461

—
¥—

63
¥(1,377)

63
¥(1,377)

47,207
$400,550

—
$—

568
$568
$(12,405) $(12,405)

For forward foreign exchange contracts, fair values at year-end are estimated based on prevailing forward exchange rates at that
date.
2) Interest rate related
Not applicable.
The following tables summarize fair value information as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 of derivative transactions for which
hedge accounting has been applied:
The amount in the contract itself does not indicate the market risk related to derivative transactions.
1) Currency related
The hedged items are mainly accounts receivable and accounts payable, and hedge accounting is based on the principal treatment
method.
Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2020

Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Sell:
  U.S. dollar
  Euro
  Canadian dollar
  Australian dollar
Buy:
  Thai baht
   Total
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amount

Thereof due
after 1 year

Estimated
fair value

¥11,054
15,743
5,029
1,482

¥—
—
—
—

¥ 212
216
441
161

17,811
¥51,119

—
¥—

(592)
¥ 438
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Millions of yen
As of March 31, 2021

Forward foreign exchange contracts:
Sell:
  Euro
  Canadian dollar
  Australian dollar
Buy:
  Thai baht
   Total

Contract
amount

Thereof due
after 1 year

Thousands of U.S. dollars
Estimated
fair value

Contract
amount

Thereof due
after 1 year

Estimated
fair value

¥23,122
2,983
1,685

¥—
—
—

¥(255)
(90)
(1)

$208,306
26,874
15,180

$—
—
—

$(2,297)
(811)
(9)

—
¥27,790

—
¥—

—
¥(346)

—
$250,360

—
$—

—
$(3,117)

2) Interest rate related
Not applicable.
8

INVENTORIES

Inventories as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

Finished products
Work in process
Raw materials and supplies
Total

9

2020

¥331,574
89,846
19,885
¥441,305

2021

¥330,109
81,206
21,734
¥433,049

2021

$2,973,955
731,586
195,801
$3,901,342

LAND REVALUATION

As of March 31, 2001, in accordance with the Law to Partially Revise the Land Revaluation Law (Law No.19, enacted on March
31, 2001), land owned by the Company for business use was revalued. The unrealized gains on the revaluation are included in net
assets as “Land revaluation,” net of deferred taxes. The deferred taxes on the unrealized gains are included in liabilities as
“Deferred tax liability related to land revaluation.”
The fair value of land was determined based on official notice prices that were assessed and published by the Commissioner of
the National Tax Administration, as stipulated in Article 2-4 of the Ordinance Implementing the Law Concerning Land Revaluation
(Article 119 of 1998 Cabinet Order, promulgated on March 31, 1998). Reasonable adjustments, including those for the timing of
assessment, were made to the official notice prices.
The amounts of decrease in the aggregate fair value of the revalued land as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 from that at the time
of revaluation, as stipulated in Article 10 of the Land Revaluation Law, were ¥78,987 million and ¥77,059 million ($694,225
thousand), respectively.
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10

SHORT-TERM DEBT AND LONG-TERM DEBT

Short-term debt as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 consisted of loans, principally from banks with interest rates averaging 1.10%
and 1.21% for the respective years.
Long-term debt as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 consisted of the following:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
2021

2021

¥ 50,000

¥ 50,000

$  450,450

4,329
423,176
20,999
498,504
(41,614)
¥456,890

4,135
678,108
22,077
754,320
(15,805)
¥738,515

37,252
6,109,081
198,892
6,795,675
(142,387)
$6,653,288

2020

As of March 31

Domestic unsecured bonds due serially through 2022 to 2027
at rate of 0.30% to 0.42% per annum
Loans principally from banks, maturing through 2076:
Secured loans
Unsecured loans
Lease obligations, maturing through 2028
  Subtotal
Amount due within one year
  Total

The annual interest rates applicable to long-term loans and lease obligations outstanding averaged 1.22% and 2.07%,
r espectively, for obligations due within one year and 0.69% and 3.06%, respectively, for obligations due after one year at
March 31, 2020.
The annual interest rates applicable to long-term loans and lease obligations outstanding averaged 1.72% and 2.13%,
respectively, for obligations due within one year and 0.71% and 3.13%, respectively, for obligations due after one year at
March 31, 2021.
The annual maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2021 were as follows:
Year ending March 31

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
Total

Millions of yen

¥ 15,805
65,009
271,846
95,046
112,760
193,854
¥754,320

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

$  142,387
585,667
2,449,063
856,270
1,015,856
1,746,432
$6,795,675

The assets pledged as collateral for short-term debt of ¥33,737 million and ¥190 million ($1,712 thousand), and long-term
debt of ¥4,329 million and ¥4,135 million ($37,252 thousand) at March 31, 2020 and 2021, respectively, were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

2021

2020

2021

Property, plant and equipment, at net book value

¥443,862

¥439,215

$3,956,892

Inventories
Other
Total

71,692
75,662
¥591,216

67,422
105,953
¥612,590

607,405
954,532
$5,518,829

11

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Contingent liabilities for guarantees of loans and similar agreements as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

Guarantees of loans and similar agreements
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¥12,533
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OPERATING LEASES

The amounts of future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 were
as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

Current portion
Non-current portion
Total

13

2020

2021

¥ 3,073
9,984
¥13,057

¥ 3,291
8,932
¥12,223

2021

$ 29,649
80,468
$110,117

NET ASSETS

Under Japanese laws and regulations, the entire amount paid for new shares is required to be designated as common stock.
However, a company may, by a resolution of the Board of Directors, designate an amount not exceeding one half of the price
of the new shares as additional paid-in capital, which is included in capital surplus.
Under the Corporate Law (“the Law”), in cases where dividend distribution of surplus is made, the smaller of an amount equal
to 10% of the dividend or the excess, if any, of 25% of common stock over the total of additional paid-in capital and legal earnings
reserve must be set aside as additional paid-in capital or legal earnings reserve. Legal earnings reserve is included in retained
earnings in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Legal earnings reserve and additional paid-in capital could be used to
eliminate or reduce a deficit or could be capitalized by a resolution of the shareholders’ meeting.
Additional paid-in capital and legal earnings reserve may not be distributed as dividends. Under the Law, all additional paid-in
capital and legal earnings reserve may be transferred to other capital surplus and retained earnings, respectively, which are potentially available for dividends.
The maximum amount that the Company can distribute as dividends is calculated based on the unconsolidated financial statements of the Company in accordance with the Law.
Cash dividends charged to retained earnings during the year are year-end cash dividends for the previous year and interim cash
dividends for the current year.
Stock acquisition rights as stock options are included in net assets as stock acquisition rights.
Dividends
1) Dividends paid to shareholders
Resolution

Annual general meeting of shareholders held on
June 24, 2020

Amount
(Millions of yen)
(Thousands of U.S. dollars)

¥12,596
$113,477

Amount per share

¥20.00
$0.18

Shareholders’
cut-off date

March 31, 2020

Effective date

June 25, 2020

2) Dividends with the cut-off date within the current fiscal year, but the effective date falls within the subsequent fiscal year
No items to disclose.
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STOCK OPTIONS

The stock options outstanding as of March 31, 2021 were as follows:
Stock Options

Persons Granted

Number of Options Granted

Date of Grant

Exercise Period

2016 Stock
Acquisition Rights

8 Directors (*1)
18 Executive Officers

Common stock
68,200 shares (*3)

August 22, 2016

From August 23,2016
to August 22, 2046

2017 Stock
Acquisition Rights

8 Directors (*1)
21 Executive Officers

Common stock
72,200 shares (*3)

August 21, 2017

From August 22,2017
to August 21, 2047

2018 Stock
Acquisition Rights

8 Directors (*1)
20 Executive Officers

Common stock
89,700 shares (*3)

August 20, 2018

From August 21,2018
to August 20, 2048

2019 Stock
Acquisition Rights

6 Directors (*2)
19 Executive Officers
and Fellow

Common stock
104,700 shares (*3)

August 20, 2019

From August 21,2019
to August 20, 2049

2020 Stock
Acquisition Rights

6 Directors (*2)
21 Executive Officers
and Fellow

Common stock
223,300 shares (*3)

August 18, 2020

From August 19, 2020
to August 18, 2050

(*1) Except for outside directors
(*2) Except for directors who are Audit and Supervisory Committee members and outside directors
(*3) Converted into number of shares

The stock options activities for the year ended March 31, 2021 were as follows:
For the year ended March 31, 2021

2016 Stock
Acquisition Rights
(Shares)

2017 Stock
Acquisition Rights
(Shares)

2018 Stock
Acquisition Rights
(Shares)

2019 Stock
Acquisition Rights
(Shares)

2020 Stock
Acquisition Rights
(Shares)

Non-vested:
—

—

—

—

—

  Granted

—

—

—

—

223,300

  Forfeited

—

—

—

—

—

  Vested

—

—

—

—

223,300

—

—

—

—

—

March 31, 2020 - Outstanding

March 31, 2021 - Outstanding
Vested:

48,800

56,800

78,900

104,700

—

  Vested

—

—

—

—

223,300

  Exercised

—

—

—

—

—

  Expired

—

—

—

—

—

48,800

56,800

78,900

104,700

223,300

¥

¥

¥

March 31, 2020 - Outstanding

March 31, 2021 - Outstanding
Price of Stock Options:
Exercise price
Weighted average stock price at exercise
Fair value price at grant date

1

1

1

¥

1

$ 0.01

$ 0.01

$ 0.01

¥

—

¥

—

¥

—

¥

—

¥

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

¥1,327

¥1,336

¥1,027

¥ 650

¥ 415

$11.95

$12.04

$ 9.25

$5.86

$3.74

Estimate method:

Black-Scholes option pricing model

Volatility of stock price:

38.596%

Estimated remaining outstanding period:

8 years

Estimated dividend:

¥35.00 per share

Risk-free interest rate:

(0.045)%
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The assumptions used to measure the fair value of 2020 Stock Acquisition Rights
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SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The major items and amounts included in “Selling, general and administrative expenses” in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

For the years ended March 31

Sales promotion expenses
Advertising expenses
Freightage and packing expenses
Reserve for warranty expenses
Salaries and wages
Retirement benefit expenses
Research and development costs

16

2021

2020

¥ 57,449

¥ 55,002

2021

$  495,514

124,313

92,560

833,874

51,564

43,783

394,441

51,520

33,230

299,369

121,066

115,880

1,043,964

7,670

6,451

58,117

135,009

127,432

1,148,036

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT COSTS

All research and development costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses. The research and development
costs for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

For the years ended March 31

Research and development costs

17

2021

2020

¥135,009

¥127,432

2021

$1,148,036

OTHER INCOME/(EXPENSES)

The components of “Other, net” in Other income/(expenses) in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended
March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

For the years ended March 31

Rental income
Loss on sale of receivables
Foreign exchange gain/(loss)
Loss on sales and retirement of property, plant and equipment, net
Impairment loss (Note 18)
Loss on production suspension due to the novel coronavirus (*1)

2020

¥   1,731
(1,478)
(10,466)

2021

¥   1,682
(891)
16,062

2021

$   15,153
(8,027)
144,703

(3,645)

(4,563)

(797)

(1,355)

(12,207)

(20,460)

(184,324)

—

(41,108)

Gain on sale of investment securities

413

400

3,604

Compensation for the exercise of eminent domain

109

180

1,622

Other
Total

(1,219)

(1,434)

(12,922)

¥(15,352)

¥(10,379)

$ (93,506)

(*1) Loss on production suspension due to the novel coronavirus represents the fixed cost during the production suspension due to the impact of the novel coronavirus. This extraordinary loss was due to the period during which overseas production bases were shut down at the request of the government and the effects of governments declaring emergencies
and taking measures to prevent the spread of infection by limiting economic activities.

Mazda Annual Report 2021

41

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18

IMPAIRMENT LOSS

Details of impairment losses for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
For the year ended March 31, 2020
Purpose of use
Location

Type of assets

Idle assets
(Sales facilities)

Gifu Prefecture,
Japan, etc.

Buildings and structures,
Machinery, equipment and vehicles

¥203

Idle assets
(Production facilities)

Hiroshima Prefecture,
Japan, etc.

Machinery, equipment and vehicles,
Land, etc.

475

Assets held for sales

Osaka Prefecture,
Japan, etc.

Buildings and structures, Land.

Millions of yen

119

Total

¥797

For the year ended March 31, 2021
Purpose of use

Location

Type of assets

Idle assets
(Sales facilities)

State of California,
U.S.A, etc.

Buildings and structures,
Machinery, equipment and vehicles, etc.

Idle assets
(Production facilities)

Hiroshima Prefecture,
Japan, etc.

Machinery, equipment and vehicles, etc.

Assets held for sales

Tokyo Metropolis,
Japan, etc.

Buildings and structures, Land.

Total

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

¥  749

$ 6,747

506

4,559

100

901

¥1,355

$12,207

The Group principally groups its long-lived assets at each operating company level and assesses whether indicators of impairment
exist. Idle assets, assets held for leasing, and assets held for sale, however, are assessed individually.
The recoverable amounts of these assets were measured at their net realizable value.
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OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)

The following table presents reclassification and tax effects allocated to each component of other comprehensive income
for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021.
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen

For the years ended March 31

2021

2020

2021

Net unrealized gain/(loss) on available-for-sale securities
Amounts arising during the fiscal year

¥ (2,393)

Reclassification adjustments
   Subtotal before tax
  Tax effect
    Balance at end of period

¥19,571
(70)

6

19,501

(2,387)

(5,747)

622

13,754

(1,765)

$176,315
(631)
175,685
(51,775)
123,910

Deferred gains/(losses) on hedges
Amounts arising during the fiscal year
Reclassification adjustments
   Subtotal before tax
  Tax effect
    Balance at end of period

1,318

(2,159)

(19,450)

(2,080)

1,375

12,387

(762)

(784)

232

239

(7,063)
2,153

(530)

(545)

(4,910)

Foreign currency translation adjustment
Amounts arising during the fiscal year

(15,855)

19,698

177,459

(8,739)

27,864

251,027

Adjustments for retirement benefits
Amounts arising during the fiscal year
Reclassification adjustments
   Subtotal before tax
  Tax effect
    Balance at end of period

4,883
(3,856)

4,182

37,676

32,046

288,703

(9,662)

1,215

22,384

(2,641)

(87,045)
201,658

Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of affiliates
accounted for using equity method
Amounts arising during the fiscal year
Reclassification adjustments
    Balance at the end of period
    Total other comprehensive income/(loss)

20

(2,785)

1,570

(2,780)

1,618
¥(19,173)

(25,090)

5

48

¥52,511

45
(25,045)
$473,072

EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT BENEFITS

The Group has contributory defined contribution and defined benefit plans, and non-contributory defined benefit plans.
For the accounting policies for retirement benefits, refer to “Employees’ Retirement Benefits” under Note 2, “Summary
of Significant Accounting Policies.”
Reconciliations of beginning and ending balances of the retirement benefit obligations and the plan assets for the years ended
March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
For the years ended March 31

2020

2021

2021

Movements in retirement benefit obligations:
¥351,192

¥353,670

$3,186,216

  Service cost

13,070

13,343

120,207

  Interest cost

2,641

2,732

24,613

  Actuarial differences

1,503

448

Balance at beginning of year

  Benefits paid
   Past service costs
  Other
Balance at end of year

(15,389)

(16,828)

4,036
(151,604)

5

45

778

3,071

27,667

¥353,670

¥356,441

$3,211,180

(125)
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Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
For the years ended March 31

2021

2020

2021

Movements in plan assets:
Balance at beginning of year
   Expected return on plan assets
  Actuarial differences
   Contributions paid by the employer
  Benefits paid
  Other
Balance at end of year

¥285,446

¥281,532

5,124

4,930

44,414

28,486

256,631

(7,561)

$2,536,324

8,230

9,478

(12,635)

(11,722)

74,144
(113,829)

767

2,519

22,694

¥281,532

¥313,062

$2,820,378

The reconciliation of the retirement benefit obligations and plan assets to the liability and asset for retirement benefits
recognized in the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 was as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

Funded retirement benefit obligations
Plan assets

2021

2020

¥ 340,294

¥ 337,975
(281,532)

(313,062)

2021

$ 3,065,712
(2,820,378)

56,443

27,232

245,334

Unfunded retirement benefit obligations

15,695

16,147

145,468

Total net liability (asset) for retirement benefits recognized
in consolidated balance sheets

72,138

43,379

390,802

Liability for retirement benefits

75,874

50,039

450,802

Asset for retirement benefits

(3,736)

Subtotal

Total net liability (asset) for retirement benefits recognized
in consolidated balance sheets

(6,660)
¥   43,379

¥   72,138

(60,000)
$   390,802

The profits and losses related to retirement benefits for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
For the years ended March 31

Service cost
Interest cost
Expected return on plan assets
Actuarial differences amortization
Past service costs amortization
Other

2020

2021

2021

¥13,070

¥13,343

$120,207

2,641

2,732

24,613

(5,124)

(4,930)

(44,414)

5,616

4,774

43,009

(592)

(733)
(50)

Severance and retirement benefit expenses

¥15,420

(5,333)

23

206

¥15,350

$138,288

Note: For the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021, accrued pension costs related to defined contribution plans were charged to income as ¥3,388 million and ¥3,426 million
($30,865 thousand), respectively. This cost is not included in the above.

The breakdown of items of adjustments for retirement benefit (before tax) recognized in other comprehensive income
for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 was as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
For the years ended March 31

Past service costs
Actuarial differences
Total
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2020

2021

¥   (608)

¥   (597)

2021

$  (5,378)

(3,248)

32,643

294,081

¥(3,856)

¥32,046

$288,703
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The breakdown of items of accumulated adjustments for retirement benefits (before tax) recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive income as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 was as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

Past service costs that are yet to be recognized
Actuarial differences that are yet to be recognized
Total

2020

¥   3,309

2021

2021

¥ 2,712

$ 24,432

(36,142)

(3,499)

(31,522)

¥(32,833)

¥  (787)

$ (7,090)

The breakdown of plan assets by major category as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 was as follows:
As of March 31

2020

2021

Bonds

47%

46%

Equity securities

24%

29%

General accounts of the life insurance companies

16%

15%

Other

13%

10%

100%

100%

Total

The major items of actuarial assumptions for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
For the years ended March 31

2020

2021

Discount rate

Primarily 0.6%

Primarily 0.7%

Long-term expected rate of return

Primarily 1.5%

Primarily 1.5%

To determine the long-term expected rate of return on plan assets, the Company considers current and expected allocation of
the plan assets, as well as current and expected future long-term returns on various assets constituting the plan assets.
21

INCOME TAXES

The effective tax rate reflected in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 differs
from the statutory tax rate for the following reasons.
2020

2021

30.5 %

30.5 %

Valuation allowance

56.1 %

1,722.0 %

Foreign withholding tax

13.3 %

203.2 %

1.0 %

(111.9)%

For the years ended March 31

Statutory tax rate

Unrecognized tax effect on unrealized gains
Different tax rates applied to foreign consolidated subsidiaries
Equity in net income of affiliated companies
Tax system differences for foreign consolidated subsidiaries
Retained earnings in subsidiaries and affiliates
Refund of income taxes for prior periods
Other
Effective tax rate

(5.8)%

(101.8)%

(12.2)%

(91.6)%

—

(60.2)%

2.7 %

(30.3)%

(21.2)%

—

7.0 %

(4.2)%

71.4 %

1,555.7 %
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities reflect the estimated tax effects of loss carryforwards and accumulated temporary d
 ifferences
between assets and liabilities for financial accounting purposes and those for tax purposes.
The significant components of deferred tax assets and liabilities as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

2021

2020

2021

Deferred tax assets:
¥ 60,735

¥ 59,909

$  539,721

Tax loss carryforwards (*2)

19,626

43,264

389,766

Liability for retirement benefits

24,473

15,600

140,541

Inventory, etc.

9,245

10,570

95,225

Impairment loss

1,377

1,247

11,234
3,568

Accrued bonuses and other reserves

675

396

11,716

210

1,892

190

198

1,784

Valuation loss on investment securities, etc.
Foreign tax credit carryforward
Allowance for doubtful receivables
Other

52,910

50,823

457,864

  Total

180,947

182,217

1,641,595

(6,779)

(38,549)

(347,288)

(53,752)

(49,796)

(448,613)

   Total valuation allowance (*1)

(60,531)

(88,345)

(795,901)

    Total deferred tax assets

120,416

93,872

845,694

Retained earnings in subsidiaries and affiliates

(14,200)

(13,532)

(121,910)

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on foreign subsidiaries

(11,983)

(10,168)

(91,604)

Net unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities

(1,391)

(7,073)

(63,721)

Asset for retirement benefits

(2,287)

(2,990)

(26,937)

Valuation allowance for tax loss carryforwards (*2)
Valuation allowance for deductible temporary differences, etc.

Deferred tax liabilities:

Other
    Total deferred tax liabilities
    Net deferred tax assets

(5,996)

(5,463)

(49,216)

(35,857)

(39,226)

(353,388)

¥54,646

¥ 84,559

$  492,306

(*1) Valuation allowance increased by ¥27,814 million ($250,577 thousand). This increase was mainly resulted from the increase in tax loss carryforward on the Company and its associated valuation allowance.
(*2) Tax loss carryforwards and their deferred tax assets by expiration periods are as follows:
Millions of yen

As of March 31, 2020

2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
Thereafter
   Total

Tax loss
carryforwards
(a)

¥

—
—
—
—
—
19,626
¥19,626

Valuation
allowance

Deferred
tax assets

¥

¥

—
—
—
—
—
(6,779)
¥(6,779)

—
—
—
—
—
12,847
¥12,847 (b)

Millions of yen

As of March 31, 2021

2022
2023
2024
2025
2026
Thereafter
   Total
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Tax loss
carryforwards
(a)

¥

149
—
—
—
—
43,115
¥ 43,264

Valuation
allowance

¥

—
—
—
—
—
(38,549)
¥(38,549)

Thousands of U.S. dollars
Deferred
tax assets

¥ 149
—
—
—
—
4,566
¥4,715 (c)

Tax loss
carryforwards
(a)

$

1,342
—
—
—
—
388,423
$389,766

Valuation
allowance

$

—
—
—
—
—
(347,288)
$(347,288)

Deferred
tax assets

$ 1,342
—
—
—
—
41,135
$42,477 (c)
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(a) Tax loss carryforwards are after multiplying the statutory tax rate.
(b) Deferred tax assets of ¥12,847 million were recognized for tax loss carryforwards of ¥19,626 million (amount multiplied
by the statutory tax rate). No valuation allowance was recognized for the tax loss carryforwards, which were determined to be
recoverable based on expected future taxable income.
(c) Deferred tax assets of ¥4,715 million ($42,477 thousand) were recognized for tax loss carryforwards of ¥43,264 million
(amount multiplied by the statutory tax rate; $389,766 thousand). No valuation allowance was recognized for the tax loss
carryforwards, which were determined to be recoverable based on expected future taxable income.
	  As of March 31, 2021, the Company’s deferred tax assets for tax loss carryforwards, net of valuation allowance for tax
loss carryforwards, were ¥4,150 million ($37,387 thousand).
22

SEGMENT INFORMATION

SEGMENT INFORMATION
OVERVIEW OF REPORTABLE SEGMENTS
The reportable segments of the Group consist of business components for which separate financial statements are available.
The reportable segments are subject to periodical review by Board of Directors meetings for the purpose of making decisions on the
distribution of corporate resources and evaluating business performance.
The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacture and sale of passenger and commercial vehicles. Businesses in Japan are
managed by the Company. Businesses in North America are managed by Mazda Motor of America, Inc. and the Company, while
businesses in Europe are managed by Mazda Motor Europe GmbH and the Company. Areas other than Japan, North America, and
Europe are defined as Other areas. Business deployment in countries in Other areas are managed in an integrated manner by the
Company as one management unit. Accordingly, the Group consists of regional segments based on a system of managing production
and sale. As such, Japan, North America, Europe, and Other areas are designated as 4 reportable segments.

CALCULATION METHODS USED FOR NET SALES, INCOME OR LOSS, ASSETS, AND OTHER ITEMS ON EACH
REPORTABLE SEGMENT
Accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as those noted in Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies.”
Inter-segment sales and transfers are based on market prices.

NET SALES, INCOME OR LOSS, AND ASSETS BY REPORTABLE SEGMENT
Net sales, income or loss, and assets by reportable segment for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:
Millions of yen
Reportable Segments
As of and for the year ended
March 31, 2020

Japan

North
America

¥1,035,277

¥1,166,712

¥705,492

¥522,804

¥3,430,285

1,735,605

197,582

28,816

83,324

2,045,327

(2,045,327)

—

2,770,882

1,364,294

734,308

606,128

5,475,612

(2,045,327)

3,430,285

Europe

Other areas

Adjustment (*1)

Total

Consolidated (*2)

Net sales:
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales and transfers
  Total
Segment income/(loss)

—

1,389

¥3,430,285

30,839

10,260

26,435

42,214

2,174,003

456,906

205,142

326,146

3,162,197

59,098

21,220

5,621

6,330

92,269

—

92,269

792

7

—

797

—

797

 Investments in affiliated
companies on the equity method

33,353

16,420

3,052

99,074

151,899

—

151,899

 Increase in property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

89,241

38,229

1,661

3,447

132,578

—

132,578

Segment assets

(25,320)

¥

(374,557)

43,603
2,787,640

Other items:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses

(2)
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Millions of yen
Reportable Segments
As of and for the year ended
March 31, 2021

Japan

North
America

¥  866,977

¥1,027,856

¥490,134

¥497,099

¥2,882,066

1,464,574

252,611

19,600

57,664

1,794,449

(1,794,449)

—

2,331,551

1,280,467

509,734

554,763

4,676,515

(1,794,449)

2,882,066

Europe

Other areas

Adjustment (*1)

Total

Consolidated (*2)

Net sales:
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales and transfers
  Total

¥

—

¥2,882,066

(64,724)

40,477

10,002

17,761

3,516

5,304

8,820

2,343,476

449,287

198,115

354,802

3,345,680

(428,266)

2,917,414

59,723

19,345

4,574

6,123

89,765

—

89,765

842

467

31

15

1,355

—

1,355

 Investments in affiliated companies
on the equity method

32,612

5,230

2,444

82,776

123,062

—

123,062

 Increase in property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

64,238

24,892

2,063

1,779

92,972

—

92,972

Segment income/(loss)
Segment assets
Other items:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses

Thousands of U.S. dollars
Reportable Segments
As of and for the year ended
March 31, 2021

Japan

North
America

Europe

Other areas

$ 7,810,604

$ 9,259,964

$4,415,622

$4,478,369

13,194,360

2,275,775

176,577

519,495

16,166,207

(16,166,207)

—

21,004,964

11,535,739

4,592,199

4,997,864

42,130,766

(16,166,207)

25,964,559

Adjustment (*1)

Total

Consolidated (*2)

Net sales:
Sales to external customers
Inter-segment sales and transfers
  Total

$25,964,559 $

—

$25,964,559

(583,099)

364,658

90,108

160,009

31,676

47,783

79,459

21,112,396

4,047,631

1,784,820

3,196,414

30,141,261

(3,858,252)

26,283,009

538,045

174,279

41,207

55,163

808,694

—

808,694

7,586

4,207

279

135

12,207

—

12,207

 Investments in affiliated companies
on the equity method

293,802

47,117

22,018

745,730

1,108,667

—

1,108,667

 Increase in property, plant and
equipment and intangible assets

578,722

224,252

18,586

16,026

837,586

—

837,586

Segment income/(loss)
Segment assets
Other items:
Depreciation and amortization
Impairment losses

(*1)
(*2)

Notes on adjustment:
(1) The adjustment on segment income/(loss) is eliminations of inter-segment transactions.
(2) The adjustment on segment assets is mainly eliminations of inter-segment receivables and payables.
The segment income/(loss) is reconciled with the operating income in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021.
The segment assets are reconciled with the total assets in the consolidated balance sheets as of March 31, 2020 and 2021.

ASSOCIATED INFORMATION
INFORMATION BY GEOGRAPHIC AREA
The sales information by geographic area for the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021 was as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
For the years ended March 31

2020

2021

2021

Japan

¥  629,911

¥  594,490

$ 5,355,766

U.S.A

873,632

792,024

7,135,351

North America (Excluding U.S.A)

294,261

232,870

2,097,928

Europe

715,837

498,037

4,486,820

Other areas

916,644

764,645

6,888,694

¥3,430,285

¥2,882,066

$25,964,559

Total

Sales are categorized by the countries or regions based on the customers’ locations.

48

Mazda Annual Report 2021

CONTENTS

Message from the
President and CEO

Financial Section

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

The property, plant and equipment information by geographic area as of March 31, 2020 and 2021 was as follows:
Thousands of
U.S. dollars

Millions of yen
As of March 31

Japan

2020

2021

2021

¥  863,019

¥  861,731

$7,763,342

110,476

95,671

861,901

North America (Excluding Mexico)

23,309

45,075

406,081

Europe

20,015

16,924

152,468

Other areas

55,695

55,767

502,406

¥1,072,514

¥1,075,168

$9,686,198

Mexico

Total

23

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

There were no transactions with related parties to be disclosed during the years ended March 31, 2020 and 2021.
For the year ended March 31, 2021, an important affiliate was Changan Mazda Automobile Co., Ltd., and the summary of its
financial statements used in the calculation of the equity in net income of affiliated companies was as follows;
As of and for the year ended March 31, 2021

Total current assets

Millions of yen

Thousands of
U.S. dollars

¥130,185

$1,172,838

61,677

555,649

101,494

914,361

Total non-current liabilities

26,391

237,757

Total net assets

63,977

576,369

Total non-current assets
Total current liabilities

Net sales

267,256

2,407,712

Net income before income taxes

30,475

274,550

Net income

23,523

211,919

24

SIGNIFICANT SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On July 20, 2021, the Company implemented the funding by new subordinated loan (the “Subordinated Loan”) and made an
early repayment of the existing subordinated loan (the “Existing Subordinated Loan”).

OVERVIEW OF THE SUBORDINATED LOAN
The detailed conditions and terms of the Subordinated Loan are as follows.
1) Amount borrowed
¥70 billion ($631 million)
2) Use of proceeds
Applied to the repayment of the Existing Subordinated Loan
3) Drawdown date
July 20, 2021
4) Maturity date
July 20, 2081
		However, the Company may make early repayment of all or part of the principal on July 20,
2026 or any interest payment date thereafter or upon occurrence of any predefined early
repayment events.
5) Replacement restrictions
Upon early repayment of the Subordinated Loan, the Company intends to raise the funds that the rating institution has approved
the same or greater equity credit attributes as the Subordinated Loan within the 12-month prior to the early repayment date.
Provided, however, if after July 20, 2026, certain financial conditions are met at the time of the early repayment, the Company
may not raise funds that the rating institution has approved the same or greater equity credit attributes as the Subordinated Loan.
6) Interest payment
Excluding the cases where dividends are paid on common stock, the Company may, at its discretion, defer all or some of the
payment of interest on the Subordinated Loan.
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7) Subordination
If liquidation proceedings, bankruptcy proceedings, reorganization proceedings or rehabilitation proceedings, or any proceedings
similar to any of those under the law of any nation other than Japan are commenced against the Company and such proceedings
continue, the right to request payment of the receivables under the Agreement will be effective on the condition precedent that
all receivables other than the receivables whose subordination and the like are similar in substance to those of the Subordinated
Loan are paid in full or otherwise satisfied in full.
No term of the Agreement may be changed to the disadvantage of any creditors other than the creditors of the subordinated
receivables in any respect whatsoever.
8) Equity credit attributes of the Subordinated Loan evaluated by a Ratings Institution
Class 3 / 50% (Rating and Investment Information, Inc.)
9) Investors (lenders) participating in the Subordinated Loan
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation
Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited
Development Bank of Japan Inc.
The Hiroshima Bank, Ltd.
The Yamaguchi Bank, Ltd.
Momiji Bank, Ltd.

DETAILS OF THE EARLY REPAYMENT OF THE EXISTING SUBORDINATED LOAN
Details of the early repayment of the Existing Subordinated Loan are as follows.
July 20,2021
1) Early repayment date
2) Total amount of early repayment ¥70 billion ($631 million)
3) Reason for early repayment	Pursuant to the early repayment clause of the Existing
Subordinated Loan (*)
			*: Repay based on the prior consent of all lenders on the date available to make an early repayment initially set for the Existing
Subordinated Loan (interest payment date on or after July 20, 2021)

EFFECT ON THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OPERATIONS
The effect of the funding by the Subordinated Loan and early repayment of the Existing Subordinated Loan on the consolidated
statement of operations is immaterial.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Independent auditor’s report
To the Board of Directors of Mazda Motor Corporation:
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Mazda Motor Corporation
(“the Company”) and its consolidated subsidiaries (collectively referred to as “the Group”), which
comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at March 31, 2021, the consolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive income, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at March 31, 2021, and its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in Japan.
Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the
Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial
statements in Japan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.
Key Audit Matters
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion
thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.
Appropriateness of management’s judgment as to whether there was an impairment indicator for
operating assets of Mazda Motor Corporation
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The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group manufactures automobiles at
domestic and overseas plants and owns longlived assets such as manufacturing facilities, and
land and buildings for plants. The balance of
property, plant and equipment (“PP&E”) and
intangible assets on the consolidated balance
sheet for the current fiscal year amounted to
¥1,118,082 million. Of this amount, the balance

The primary procedures we performed to assess the
appropriateness of management’s judgement as to
whether there was an impairment indicator for the
Company’s operating assets included the following:
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of the Company’s PP&E and intangible assets
was ¥708,860 million, which accounted for
approximately 24% of total assets in the
consolidated financial statements.
In applying the Accounting Standard for
Impairment of Fixed Assets, the Group
principally groups its long-lived assets at each
operating company level and assesses whether
indicators of impairment exist. Idle assets, assets
held for leasing, and assets held for sale,
however, are assessed individually. When there
is an indicator of impairment, the Group
estimates the future cash flows of each asset
group and determines if an impairment loss shall
be recognized. Most of the Company’s PP&E
and intangible assets are grouped as that of
operating assets.
While the Company recorded net losses from
operations for the fiscal years ended March 31,
2020 and 2021, the Company expects net income
from operations for the fiscal year ending March
31, 2022. Since there were no other events or
circumstances that might indicate impairment,
the Company determined that there was no
impairment indicator for its operating assets.
On the other hand, the next year’s budget, which
was the basis for the forecasts of profit or loss
from operations for the following fiscal year,
included significant assumptions involving
estimation uncertainty, such as the prospects for
consolidated wholesales volume assuming a
certain business environment that incorporated
the effects of novel coronavirus and the shortage
of semiconductors, the results of manufacturing
cost improvement measures, the impact of rising
raw material prices, including precious metals,
as well as transaction prices between the
Company and its subsidiaries, which required
management judgment.
We, therefore, determined that our assessment of
the appropriateness of management’s judgment
as to whether there was an impairment indicator
for the Company’s operating assets was one of
the most significant matters in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements for the current
fiscal year, and accordingly, a key audit matter.
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We tested the design and operating effectiveness of
certain of the Company’s internal controls over the
estimation related to impairment of its long-lived
assets. In the assessment, we focused our testing on
the internal controls relevant to management’s
assessment of the reasonableness of the estimation
related to consolidated wholesales volume,
manufacturing cost improvement plans, the impact
of rising raw material prices, including precious
metals, as well as transaction prices between the
Company and its subsidiaries, which were
especially important in the next year’s budget.
(2) Assessment of the estimation included in
the next year’s budget
We assessed the precision of management’s
estimates by comparing the previous years’ budgets
with the actual results and analyzing the causes of
any variances. We then assessed the reasonableness
of key assumptions embedded in the next year’s
budget, by performing the following procedures,
among others:


discussed the economic outlook and demand
fluctuations in each market embedded in the
next year’s budget with management and
relevant personnel of the Company, and
assessed the reasonableness of consolidated
wholesales volume in the next year’s budget in
light of market forecast reports issued by an
external research company based on our
reading of those reports;



inquired of management and relevant
personnel of the Company regarding
assumptions related to the results of
manufacturing cost improvement measures and
the impact of rising raw material prices,
including precious metals, embedded in the
next year’s budget, inspected documents
supporting those assumptions and compared
them with actual cost improvement achieved
through similar measures in the past and
historical price trends; and



inquired of management and relevant
personnel of the Company regarding the
estimates of transaction prices between the
Company and its subsidiaries embedded in the
next year’s budget, and assessed the
reasonableness of those assumptions by
involving a tax specialist within our network
firms.

Appropriateness of management’s judgment on the recoverability of deferred tax assets of
Mazda Motor Corporation
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The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

The Group recognized deferred tax assets of
¥61,120 million on the consolidated balance
sheet for the current fiscal year. Of this amount,
deferred tax assets of the Company in its standalone financial statements was ¥37,208 million,
which accounted for approximately 1% of total
assets in the consolidated financial statements.
As described in Note 21, “Income Tax” to the
consolidated financial statements, the balance of
deferred tax assets related to tax loss
carryforwards of the Company was ¥4,150
million at the end of the current fiscal year.

In our auditor’s report on the consolidate financial
statements, we have described our audit responses
to the key audit matter, “Appropriateness of
management’s judgment as to whether there was an
impairment indicator for operating assets of Mazda
Motor Corporation.”

Based on the estimated future taxable income,
deferred tax assets are recognized for tax loss
carryforwards and deductible temporary
differences to the extent that they are expected to
reduce the amount of future tax payments.
The estimated future taxable income, which was
used to assess the recoverability of deferred tax
assets, was based on the next year’s budget
prepared by management. Accordingly, it
included significant assumptions involving
estimation uncertainty, such as the prospects for
consolidated wholesales volume assuming a
certain business environment that incorporated
the effect of novel coronavirus and the shortage
of semiconductors, the results of manufacturing
cost improvement measures, the impact of rising
raw material prices, including precious metal, as
well as transaction prices between the Company
and its subsidiaries, which required management
judgment.

This key audit matter, “Appropriateness of
management’ judgment on the recoverability of
deferred tax assets of Mazda Motor Corporation”
mainly concerned significant assumptions
involving estimation uncertainty, such as the
prospects for consolidated wholesales volume, the
results of manufacturing cost improvement
measures, the impact of rising raw material prices,
including precious metal, as well as transaction
prices between the Company and its subsidiaries,
which required management judgment. In that
context, since our audit responses to the key audit
matter were substantially the same as those in
“Appropriateness of management’s judgment as to
whether there was an impairment indicator on
operating assets of Mazda Motor Corporation” in
our auditor’s report on the consolidated financial
statements, no further description is provided in this
section.

We, therefore, determined that our assessment of
the management’s judgment on the
recoverability of deferred tax assets of the
Company was one of the most significant
matters in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current fiscal year, and
accordingly, a key audit matter.
Assessment of the appropriateness of management’s estimation of the expected reimbursement
rate used to calculate a reserve for warranty expenses related to recall-related repair costs at
Mazda Motor Corporation
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The key audit matter

How the matter was addressed in our audit

On the consolidated balance sheet, the Group
recognized a reserve for warranty expenses of
¥80,504 million for the current fiscal year. The
reserve for recall-related repair costs included as
part of the reserve for warranty expenses is

The primary procedures we performed to assess the
appropriateness of management’s estimation of the
expected reimbursement rate from suppliers for
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calculated by deducting an estimated amount of
reimbursement from suppliers, which is based on
an expected reimbursement rate, from the
expected amount of future recall-related repair
costs.
Based upon the analysis of the causes of defects,
the expected reimbursement rate is determined
by considering technical responsibility, the
suppliers’ payment ability, and the status of
negotiations with suppliers. It is then
incorporated into the calculation of the reserve.
The expected reimbursement rate included
management’s assessment of technical
responsibility, involved uncertainty, and was
dependent upon future negotiations with
suppliers. Therefore, management’s judgment
thereon had a significant effect on the expected
reimbursement rate and there is a risk that an
inappropriate expected reimbursement rate may
be determined.
We, therefore, determined that our assessment of
the appropriateness of management’s estimation
of the expected reimbursement rate from
suppliers for recall-related repair costs at the
Company was one of the most significant
matters in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements for the current year, and accordingly,
a key audit matter.

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

recall-related repair costs at the Company included
the following:
(1) Internal control testing
We tested the design and operating effectiveness of
certain of the Company’s internal controls relevant
to estimating the reserve for warranty expenses
related to recall-related repair costs, including those
over determining the expected reimbursement rate
from suppliers, as a key assumption, based on
technical responsibility. In this assessment, we
particularly focused our testing on controls to
prevent or detect adopting an inappropriate
reimbursement rate that is inconsistent with the
facts such as where technical responsibility falls.
(2) Assessment of the estimation of the expected
reimbursement rate
For a selection of significant cases where a large
amount of reimbursement is expected, we
performed the following procedures to assess the
appropriateness of management’s estimation of the
expected reimbursement rate from suppliers, as a
key assumption, based on technical responsibility:


inspected the minutes of the meetings on
quality assurance and the defect analysis
reports, and assessed the consistency of
management’s future perspective and
negotiation policy with assumptions adopted to
estimate the expected reimbursement rate for
accounting purposes;



agreed the expected reimbursement rate to the
defect analysis reports that served as the basis
for the estimation, and inspected the minutes
of negotiations with suppliers; and



inquired of the personnel responsible for the
Quality Division and Financial Services
Division, as well as personnel in charge of
negotiations with suppliers, and assessed the
consistency among their respective responses
to our inquiry.

Responsibilities of Management and the Audit and Supervisory Committee for the Consolidated
Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial
statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan, and for such internal
control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in Japan and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no
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realistic alternative but to do so.
The audit and supervisory committee is responsible for overseeing the directors’ performance of their
duties with regard to the design, implementation and maintenance of the Group’s financial reporting
process.
Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.
As part of our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in Japan, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
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Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements,
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and
obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from
error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.



Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, while the objective of the audit is not to express an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.



Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.



Evaluate whether the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements are in
accordance with accounting standards generally accepted in Japan, the overall presentation,
structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.



Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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LONG-TERM VISION FOR TECHNOLOGY DEVELOPMENT AND
INITIATIVES FOR CARBON NEUTRALITY
In August 2017, Mazda announced “Sustainable Zoom-Zoom 2030,” its long-term vision for technology development that looks
ahead to the year 2030. In light of the significant changes in the global automobile industry, the new vision takes a longer-term
perspective and sets out how Mazda will make use of driving pleasure—the fundamental appeal of the automobile—to help
resolve issues facing the earth, society, and people.

Sustainable Zoom-Zoom 2030
At Mazda, we see it as our mission to bring about a beautiful earth and to enrich people’s lives
as well as society. We will continue to seek ways to inspire people through the value found in cars.

Working to Reduce CO2 Emissions throughout a Vehicle’s Life Cycle and Endeavor for Carbon Neutrality By 2050
Our greatest challenge lies in reducing CO2 emissions to curb global warming. In order to stop global warming and preserve this beautiful
earth for future generations, we are working to reduce CO2 emissions throughout a vehicle’s life cycle. Accordingly, we are promoting the
reduction of CO2 emissions not just from the previous perspective, which evaluates CO2 emissions while driving, but also from a well-towheel perspective, which evaluates CO2 emissions from fuel extraction to manufacturing and shipping. In addition, we promote the
reduction of CO2 emissions throughout a vehicle’s life cycle, which includes the manufacturing, logistics, disposal, and recycling of
vehicles.
Approach to Substantively Reduce CO2

WELL-TO-WHEEL

CO2

Area where CO2 reduction is
possible by electrification

Fuel extraction
CO2

CO2

CO2

LIFE-CYCLE
CO2

Extract
resources

Electricity
generation

Refinery

Charging

Fueling

Power generation/
heat supply
CO2

Produce
materials

CO2

Manufacture
vehicles/parts

CO2

Transport vehicles/
parts

CO2

Driving

Driving

CO2

Maintenance/
services

CO2

Recycling/Disposal

Multiple solutions for electrification are important in line with each country’s power supply conditions, usage environment, and customer
diversity and demands. With this approach, we plan to develop electrification technologies in stages based on our Building Block Strategy
and electrify all of the vehicles we produce by 2030. In 2020, we introduced the Mazda MX-30 mild hybrid and EV models.
Additionally, we announced in February 2021 that we will endeavor to achieve carbon neutrality by 2050. We will make efforts to
promote carbon neutrality throughout the supply chain as we gain support for energy policies and the development, production, and
spread of electrification.

Electrify All Vehicles Mazda Produces by 2030
RE MULTI-ELECTRIFICATION TECHNOLOGY
EV
MAZDA CO-PILOT
CONCEPT
CONNECTIVITY

PLUG-IN HYBRID
HYBRID
NEXT-GENERATION DE
SKYACTIV-X
SKYACTIV-G/D
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For specific Mazda CSR activities, please see the Mazda Sustainability Report.

https://www.mazda.com/en/csr/report/download/

CSR INITIATIVES

The CSR Initiatives section of this annual report has been reedited from Mazda Sustainability
Report 2020. Mazda Sustainability Report 2021 is currently in progress (as of September 2021).

Mazda CSR
Basic Approach
Mazda aims to achieve its Corporate Vision through the actions of each individual, based on the Mazda Way. While striving to meet the
requests and expectations of all of Mazda’s stakeholders, each employee pursues corporate social responsibility (CSR) initiatives in the
course of their daily business activities, in order to achieve the sustainable development of both society and the Company itself.

Areas of CSR Initiatives
Referencing the Charter of Corporate Behavior issued by the Japan Business Federation (Keidanren), etc., Mazda classifies and evaluates
its CSR initiatives. The areas of CSR initiatives are periodically reviewed and revised in the light of issues in the business activities of the
automotive industry and Mazda, as well as social issues to which stakeholders attach particular importance. The most recent review was
made in July 2016, by which the Company defined the following as the key areas of its CSR initiatives: Customer Satisfaction, Quality,
Safety, Environment, Respect for People, and Social Contributions.
Customer Satisfaction

Providing a Mazda brand experience that exceeds customer expectations
Commitment to customers / Sales and customer service, etc.

Quality

Offering products and services that please our customers
 Establishing stable product quality / Achieving quality that exceeds customer expectations / Cultivating human resources capable of thinking
and acting for the happiness of customers

Safety

Promoting safety initiatives to achieve a safe and accident-free automotive society
Safety initiatives based on three viewpoints: vehicles, people, and roads and infrastructure

Environment

Reducing environmental impact throughout the entire vehicle life cycle
 Environmental management / Efforts regarding product and technology development / Efforts regarding manufacturing and logistics /
Recycling / Biodiversity / Communication, etc.

Respect for People

Developing human resources, who are the foundations of the Company and society, and respecting for human rights
 Initiatives with employees (including occupational safety and health) / Respect for human rights, etc.

Social Contributions

Contributing to local communities as a good corporate citizen
 Activities based on the three pillars (environment and safety performance, human resources development, and community contributions), etc.
(Mazda plans to review “the areas of CSR initiatives” in Mazda Sustainability Report 2021)

Collaboration with Local Government, Industrial Organizations, etc.
To fulfill its social responsibility, Mazda is actively collaborating with external organizations, including local governments and industrial
organizations. The Company has participated in activities conducted by industrial organizations, such as the Japan Business Federation
(Keidanren) and the Japan Automobile Manufacturers Association, while also being involved in government-led activities, such as the
Strategic Commission for the New Era of Automobiles set up by Japan’s Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry. In addition, Mazda
signed the United Nations Global Compact and declared its support for the recommendations from the Task Force on Climate-related
Financial Disclosures (TCFD) (see “Support for and Response to TCFD” on page 62), as part of its efforts in line with the international
community’s initiatives.

Promoting Initiatives Based on the SDGs
The Mazda Group pushes forward with various initiatives to contribute to the achievement of the
Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) adopted by the United Nations. In fiscal year March 2021,
the Company has made progress with clarifying the relationship between SDGs and the initiatives
based on the Medium-Term Management Plan.

External Evaluations of CSR (As of August 31, 2021)
Mazda identifies key external ratings and evaluations both from within Japan and overseas. By analyzing the results, Mazda evaluates its
own initiatives. Mazda continuously makes active efforts to disclose information by responding to both domestic and global surveys and
evaluations, such as those by socially responsible investment (SRI) and environmental, social, and governance (ESG) rating organizations.
Inclusion in the Dow Jones Sustainability Index (DJSI) Asia Pacific Index
(Selected since September 2017)

Inclusion in the Ethibel EXCELLENCE Investment Register (Selected since
October 2013)

Inclusion in the FTSE4Good Index Series (Selected since March 2011)

In the CDP Climate Change Report 2020, Mazda’s score was A-

Inclusion in the FTSE Blossom Japan Index (Selected since the index was
established in July 2017)

Inclusion in the S&P/JPX Carbon Efficient Index (Selected since the index was
established in September 2018)

Inclusion in the MSCI ESG Leaders Indexes (Selected since June 2020)

In fiscal year March 2021, Mazda received Silver Medal evaluation in a supply
chain assessment conducted by EcoVadis

Inclusion in the MSCI Japan Empowering Women Index (WIN)
(Selected since December 2019)
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The Mazda Group promotes brand value management. By enhancing its brand
value, the Group aims to increase the number of enthusiastic Mazda fans and
attain its business growth, thereby consequently enhancing its corporate value.
With a view to building special bonds with customers in more than 130 countries

INITIATIVES
and regionsCSR
where
Mazda vehicles are sold, Mazda pushes forward with various
initiatives in cooperation with local distributors/dealerships to provide customers
with a Mazda brand experience in all stages of their car ownership.

Customer Satisfaction

Basic Approach
Three Approaches
to Establish an Emotional Connection with Customers a

a

The Mazda Group promotes brand value management. By enhancing its brand value, the
aims to increase
the number
enthusiastic Mazda
and attain
To establishGroup
an emotional
connection
withofcustomers,
Mazdafans
considers
it its business
growth, thereby consequently enhancing its corporate value. To establish an emotional
necessary to take into account all touch points, i.e., not only the period during
connection with customers, Mazda considers it necessary to take into account all touch
which customers
are not
in possession
of aduring
Mazda
vehicle,
but are
alsoin the
periods
points, i.e.,
only the period
which
customers
possession
of a Mazda vehicle,
but
also
the
periods
before
they
purchase
the
vehicle
and
after
let go of it.
before they purchase the vehicle and after they let go of it. Under thisthey
belief,

Everytouch
Touchpoint
Point
Every

Considering
replacement
with a
new car

Having
interest,
search for
information

Ordinary
automotive
lifestyle

the Company has determined three approaches that sales, marketing, customer
Promoting Activities to Enable Customers to Experience “Driving Pleasure”
services, and
other
relevant
divisions
shouldcustomers
jointly pursue,
based on which
Mazda
promotes
initiatives
to provide
with opportunities
to communicate with
Mazda brand
and strengthen
bonds with
Mazda throughout
their car ownership. As part
the Group the
companies
of each
country/region
implement
specific measures

of these initiatives, Mazda promotes activities which are designed to communicate the
concept of Mazda’s monotsukuri and its latest technologies to customers, and offering them
Three approaches
opportunities to dialogue with employees. Through these various approaches, Mazda strives
to establish special
withperspective.
customers, while
striking a balance
between
■ View customers
from abonds
lifelong
In childhood,
people
ride inproviding
their customers with driving pleasure and raising their safety and environmental awareness.

Test-drive,
negotiation

Purchase
contract,
delivery

Contact with
the brand
Contact with
showrooms
and staff

appropriate for their local cultures and environment.

Inspection,
repair,
loaner car

family vehicle, and after growing up, they enjoy owning their own vehicle.

Then at
an advanced
age, theyCar
return
to ridingAssuredly
in someone else’s vehicle. It
Supporting
Customers’
Ownership
Mazda promotes
initiatives that
aim to realize
“safer,
secure
and comfortable
ownership experiences” and “customer services that will be
is important
to have customers
continue
to feel
close
to Mazda
and Mazda

relied on by customers.” Through developing and providing service/repair tools and service manuals, establishing parts supply networks,
and offering training for service trainers and service staff, Mazda supports dealers in Japan and overseas, aiming at building up systems to
Continuously
maintain
the close
relationship.
Always
provide
customers with
enable them
to provide
and proper
support
for customers.

vehicles over all these years.

■

excitement and stimulation so that customers can feel a stronger connection
to Mazda as time proceeds.
■

Quality emphasis on Mazda’s uniqueness (e.g., strong attachment
Place particular
to Hiroshima, where Mazda Head Office is located, enthusiasm for offering
Approach
drivingBasic
pleasure).

Toward the realization of its Corporate Vision, Mazda believes that it is important
to enhance the “quality of all things offered outside the Company,” including products and services, to satisfy customers. The Company defines the Five Types of
Approach
to Developing Products
Mazda Quality: “quality of work,” “quality of management,” “quality of work environment,” “quality of behavior,” and “quality of all things offered outside the
In 2017, inCompany,”
light of the
rapid changes taking place in the global automotive
which is underpinned by the preceding four. In line with its quality
industry, Mazda
Zoom-Zoom
2030.”
This new
vision
for
policy, announced
Mazda further“Sustainable
advances the efforts
it has made
and promotes
united
colamongtakes
all areas,
continuing toperspective
enhance Mazda’s
value.
technologylaboration
development
a longer-term
and unique
sets out
how Mazda

Mazda Quality Policy
Mazda Quality Policy
To enrich the lives of our customers by providing products
and services that reflect steady and uncompromising work.

Five Types of Mazda Quality
Quality of All Things Offered Outside the Company

will use driving
pleasure,
the fundamental
appeal of the automobile, to help
Approach
to Quality
Improvement
solve issuesTofacing
the
earth
andand
society
(see pp.
8–12).
To achieve
this,
deliverpeople,
customers
safety,
trust,
excitement
through
automotive
lifestyles,
and to have
customers and
continuously
realize the
valueatofcreating
its products,
makes
Mazda is engaged
in research
development
aimed
theMazda
world’s
best
Group-wide efforts based on the three principles below:
functions with
the maximum
efficiency.
1. Establishing
consistent
quality, from planning to production
2. Early detection and early solution of market problems
3. B
 uilding special bonds with customers—cultivating human resources capable of
considering and acting toward the happiness of customers

Quality of
Work

Quality of
Work
Environment

Quality of
Management

Quality of Behavior

Mazda Way
Integrity, Basics/Flawless Execution, Continuous
Kaizen, Challenger Spirit, Self Initiative, Tomoiku,
One Mazda
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Mazda Proactive Safety: Mazda’s Safety Philosophy

Mazda’s safety philosophy, which guides the research and development of safety
technologies, is based on understanding, respecting and trusting the driver.
To drive safely it is essential to recognize potential hazards, exercise good
judgment and operate the vehicle in an appropriate fashion. Mazda aims to
Safety
support these essential functions so that drivers can drive safely and with peace
of mind, despite changing driving conditions.
Basic Approach
Since drivers are human beings, and human beings are fallible, Mazda offers
While continuing to keep abreast of the latest safety advancements,
works which
on technology
development
withthe
thedamage
belief that
techa range of Mazda
technologies
help to prevent
or reduce
resulting
an accident.
nologies will demonstrate their true value only when theirfrom
use becomes
widespread.

Initiatives in Vehicles: Mazda Proactive Safety

High
Help protect passengers

Accident
Mazda’s safety philosophy, which guides the
and pedestrians in the
happens
Injury
event of an accident
research and development of safety technologies,
reduction
Help avoid or reduce the
is based on understanding, respecting, and trusting
severity
of
an
accident
when
Accident becomes
Risk of
the driver alone cannot
the driver.
unavoidable
Accident
safely operate the vehicle
To drive safely it is essential to recognize potential
Risk of
hazards, exercise good judgment, and operate the
Provide hazard alerts
accident rises
to help the driver avoid
vehicle in an appropriate fashion. Mazda aims to
dangers and recover the
Accident
safe operation of the vehicle
support these essential functions so that drivers can
reduction
drive safely and with peace of mind, despite changMaximize the range of
Risk of accident is low
Customer
Respect for
Socialin which the
conditions
ing driving conditions. Since
drivers
are Customer
human
Mazda
CSR
Quality
Environment
Management
(Safe operation
of vehicle) Respect
Safety
Social
Satisfaction
Peoplefor
Contributions
driver
can drive safelyManagement
Mazda CSR
Quality
Environment
Safety
Satisfaction
People
Contributions
beings, and human beings are fallible, Mazda
offers
and comfortably
a range of technologies which help to prevent or
reduce the damage resulting from an accident.
Low
What Mazda’s safety technologies
The Mazda Co-Pilot Concept:
aim to provide
The Mazda Co-Pilot Concept:
Autonomous
Driving Technologies as
l
l
Human-Centered Autonomous Driving
Driving Technologies as
Continuous EvolutionHuman-Centered
of Safety Technologies
l
l Autonomous
Standard Equipment
Autonomous Driving
Standard Equipment
Mazda strives to continuously
evolve
its basic
safety
technologies,
such
as the
The Mazda
Co-Pilot
Concept
is Mazda’s
development
concept
forideal
humandriving position and pedal layout and excellent visibilThe Mazda Co-Pilot Concept is Mazda’s development concept for human
“Mazda Co-Pilot Concept,”
centered
self-driving
technology.
on thisasconcept,
people enjoy
ity, as well as technologies
to mitigate
injuries
in an Based
accident,
represented
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Mazda Co-Pilot 1.0, we plan to start its introduction from our Large Products from 2022.
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TOPICS
Proactive introduction of evolving advanced safety technology “i-ACTIVSENSE”
TOPICS
Proactive introduction of evolving advanced safety technology “i-ACTIVSENSE”
Mazda’s safety philosophy focuses on “avoiding danger” rather than “coping with dangerous situations.”
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CSR INITIATIVES

Environment
Basic Approach
Mazda actively adopts initiatives to promote a decarbonized and low-carbon society, recycling-oriented society in harmony with nature,
in cooperation with local governments, industrial organizations, and non-profit organizations. These efforts are reflected in all of Mazda’s
corporate activities with the aim of achieving a sustainable society. The Company carries out initiatives in each of the following fields,
which Mazda believes automakers should address in the face of the worsening environmental issues: energy-and global-warming-related
issues, promoting resource recycling, cleaner emissions, and environmental management.

Energy- and Global-Warming-Related Issues
Mazda is taking various measures to reduce CO2 emissions over
the entire life cycle of a vehicle. The Company is developing
multiple solutions that enable us to offer appropriate powertrains that take into consideration each region’s situation and
power generation mix. In addition, Mazda carries out various
initiatives such as making efforts with other companies and
between industry, academia, and government to encourage the
spread of renewable liquid fuels and reducing CO2 emissions
from production, offices, and logistics operations.

Establishment of Value Chain for Next-Generation Biodiesel
Fuels in Hiroshima “Your Green Fuel” Project
Mazda participates in the Hiroshima “Your Green Fuel” Project, a
project to spread next-generation biodiesel automotive fuels. To create
a model for the local production and consumption of biodiesel fuels in
Hiroshima, the Company has established a biodiesel fuel value chain—
from the production and supply of raw materials to the use of the
fuels—and use of the fuels has started.

Promoting Resource Recycling
Mazda strives to reduce waste from vehicles, the vehicle manufacturing and shipping processes, and the disposal of end-oflife vehicles, while actively promoting the comprehensive
recycling of resources. Various initiatives are under way, including the development of vehicles that are easy to disassemble
and recycle, the reduction of direct landfill waste in production
sites, and the reduction of the volume of packaging and wrapping materials used for logistics operations.

Image of biofuel vehicle
Refer to the following URL for details (Japanese only):

https://newsroom.mazda.com/ja/publicity/release/2020/2020
08/200804a.html

Cleaner Emissions
Efforts are being made to reduce various emissions/waste
(aside from CO2) from vehicles and manufacturing processes,
especially emissions with highly adverse environmental impacts.
For example, the Company encourages the introduction of
low-emission vehicles to improve air quality in each country
and region and activities to reduce emissions of PRTR substances and VOCs in production sites.

Environmental Management
Mazda is promoting initiatives under environmental management systems (EMS) across its entire supply chain and in all
Group companies, in order to conduct more environmentally
conscious business activities in a more effective manner based
on ISO 14001 and other standards. Moreover, various measures
are carried out to expand the implementation of life cycle
assessment (LCA) and biodiversity preservation activities.

Support for and Response to TCFD
In May 2019, Mazda declared its support for the recommendations
1

from the Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD)*
2

and joined the TCFD Consortium,* showing its commitment to
strengthening its efforts to address climate change. Since fiscal year
March 2021, the Company has been taking measures for information
disclosure regarding climate-related risks and opportunities in accordance with the TCFD recommendations in the thematic areas of
governance, strategy, risk management, and metrics and targets.*

*1	TCFD: Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures
	A private-sector-led organization set up by the Financial Stability Board (FSB), in
response to the request from the G20 Finance Ministers and Central Bank
Governors.
*2	The TCFD Consortium is an organization established in Japan, aimed at holding
discussions on effective corporate information disclosure and efforts for leading
disclosed information to appropriate decision-making on investment by financial institutes and other entities. The Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry,
the Financial Services Agency, and the Ministry of the Environment participate in
the consortium as observers.
*3 Source: https://tcfd-consortium.jp/en/about
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Respect for People
Basic Approach

Seven Principles of the Mazda Way

Mazda recognizes that people are its most important resource and aims
to be a company staffed by people who enjoy their work. To this end, the
Company promotes human resources training based on the Mazda Way
principles that are shared throughout the entire Mazda Group worldwide. Also, the Company has established Group-wide human resources
policies and measures along with the promotion of various initiatives.
Also, Mazda declares that it will never tolerate human rights violations
of any kind, including discrimination and bullying on the basis of race,
nationality, faith, gender, social status, family origin, age, physical disability, sexual orientation, or gender identity, and also states that Mazda is
determined to eliminate human rights violations from business activities
both inside and outside the Company. With this determination, the
Company expands its initiative to promote respect for human rights to
its domestic and overseas group companies and suppliers.

Creating a Working Environment That Enables Each Employee’s
Successful Performance
Mazda strives to create a working environment where each employee can
continue to proactively work and succeed. Specifically, the Company
promotes the introduction of a system that encourages flexible and
diverse work styles, the reduction of working (overtime) hours through
the effective use of information technology, and the development of
career plans for employees’ continued success.

INTEGRITY
We keep acting with integrity toward our customers,
society, and our own work.
BASICS/FLAWLESS EXECUTION
We devote ourselves to the basics, and make steady efforts
in a step by step fashion.
CONTINUOUS KAIZEN
We continue to improve with wisdom and ingenuity.
CHALLENGER SPIRIT
We set a high goal, and keep challenging to achieve it.
SELF INITIATIVE
We think and act with “self initiative.”
TOMOIKU
We learn and teach each other for our mutual growth and
success.
ONE MAZDA
We think and act with the view of “Global” and “One Mazda.”

Human Resources System and Measures (Examples)
Work–Life Balance

Promotion of Reemployment of the Elderly

Child-rearing paid leave / Child-rearing leave, Nursing care leave,
Special Warm Heart leave system*

Reemployment of retired former employees to help them share their
expertise (Expert Family system)

* A paid-leave system that covers nursing care for relatives, volunteer work,
functions at one’s child’s school, and infertility treatment

Health Improvement

Support for Employees with Special Needs

Vitality checkups (investigation of occupational stress and diagnosis of
the organization’s comprehensive health degree)

Establishment of the Physical Challenge Support Desk for consultations.
Employment of certified sign-language interpreters as regular employees.

Eco-Walk Commuting Program (with allowance payments)

Social Contributions
Basic Approach
As a company engaged in global business, Mazda is fulfilling its responsibilities as a good corporate citizen through ongoing involvement in
socially beneficial activities tailored to the needs of local communities, in
order to ensure that its business activities contribute to the building of a
sustainable society. Mazda conducts various social contribution initiatives,
based on the three pillars in the basic policy.

Three Pillars in Basic Policy on Social Contribution Initiatives

Environmental
and Safety
Performance
Responsibility as an
automobile manufacturer

Human
Resources
Development

Community
Contributions

Fostering people who
will be future leaders
in the foundation of
society and in business

Responding
to local social
needs as a good
corporate citizen
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DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS (As of June 24, 2021)
Directors

Number of shares
held: 13,200

Number of shares
held: 9,200

Number of shares
held: 13,000

Number of shares
held: 1,100

Kiyotaka Shobuda

Akira Marumoto

Kiyoshi Fujiwara

Mitsuru Ono

Representative Director and Chairman of
the Board

Representative Director

Representative Director

Director

Apr. 1980
Jun. 1997

Mar. 1982
Mar. 2003

Apr. 1981

Mar. 1982
Joined the Company
Apr. 2006	Deputy General Manager, Hofu Plant
Nov. 2008	Executive Officer; President,
AutoAlliance (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
Jun. 2013
Managing Executive Officer
Apr. 2016	Senior Managing Executive Officer
Jun. 2016	Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer
Jun. 2021
Representative Director and
Chairman of the Board

Jun. 1999
Jun. 2002
Apr. 2006
Apr. 2010
Jun. 2010
Jun. 2013
Jun. 2018

Joined the Company
Program Manager,
Program Managers Div.
Director
Executive Officer
Managing Executive Officer
Senior Managing Executive Officer
Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer
Representative Director,
Executive Vice President
Representative Director,
President and CEO

Jun. 2005
Nov. 2008
Jun. 2013
Apr. 2015
Apr. 2016
Jun. 2016
Jun. 2018
Jun. 2021

Joined the Company
Vice President, Mazda Motor Europe
GmbH
General Manager, Product Planning &
Business Strategy Div.
Executive Officer
Managing Executive Officer
Managing Executive Officer; President,
Mazda Engineering & Technology Co., Ltd.
Senior Managing Executive Officer
Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer
Representative Director, Executive Vice
President
Representative Director, Executive Vice
President and COO

Apr. 2011
Jun. 2015
May 2017
Jun. 2017

Joined Sumitomo Bank, Ltd. (now
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corp.)
Executive Officer, General Manager of
International Credit Management Dept.
Standing Auditor
Adviser, Mazda Motor Corporation
Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Independent director
Outside director

Number of shares
held: 2,400

Number of shares
held: 1,300

Number of shares
held: 1,600

Number of shares
held: 700

Akira Koga

Masahiro Moro

Yasuhiro Aoyama

Kiyoshi Sato

Director

Director

Director

Director

Mar. 1984
Mar. 2004
Nov. 2008
Apr. 2011

Jun. 2013
Apr. 2016
Jun. 2018

Joined the Company
General Manager,
Corporate Planning Div.
Executive Officer
Executive Officer; Executive Vice
President, Mazda Motor of America,
Inc. (Mazda North American
Operations)
Managing Executive Officer
Senior Managing Executive Officer
Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Mar. 1983
Aug. 2002
Mar. 2004
Nov. 2008
Jun. 2013
Jan. 2016

Apr. 2016
Apr. 2019

Jun. 2019

Joined the Company
General Manager,
Global Marketing Div.
Vice President, Mazda Motor Europe
GmbH
Executive Officer
Managing Executive Officer
Managing Executive Officer,
President and CEO, Mazda Motor of
America, Inc. (Mazda North American
Operations)
Senior Managing Executive Officer
Senior Managing Executive Officer,
Chairman and CEO, Mazda Motor of
America, Inc. (Mazda North American
Operations)
Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Mar. 1988
Oct. 2007
Oct. 2011
Apr. 2014
Apr. 2017
Apr. 2019

Jun. 2021

Joined the Company
General Manager, Product Planning &
Business Strategy Div.
General Manager, Global Marketing
Div.
Executive Officer
Managing Executive Officer
Managing Executive Officer
President and CEO, Mazda Motor
Europe GmbH
Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Apr. 1979
Dec. 2001
Jun. 2003
Apr. 2009
Jun. 2011
Jul. 2014
Jun. 2016
Jun. 2017

Jul. 2017
Jun. 2019
Jun. 2019

Joined Tokyo Electron Ltd.
General Manager of Clean Track
Business Unit, Tokyo Electron Ltd.
Representative Director, President and
CEO, Tokyo Electron Ltd.
Director and Vice Chairman of the
Board, Tokyo Electron Ltd.
Director, Tokyo Electron Ltd.
Advisor, Tokyo Electron Ltd.
Audit & Supervisory Board Member,
Tokyo Electron Yamanashi Ltd.
Outside Director, TOSHIBA MACHINE
Co., Ltd. (now SHIBAURA MACHINE
CO., LTD.)
Advisor, Tokyo Electron Ltd.
Outside Director, Inabata & Co., Ltd.
Outside Director, Mazda Motor
Corporation

Independent director

Independent director

Outside director

Outside director

Number of shares
held: 1,200

Number of shares
held: 5,600

Number of shares
held: 4,700

Number of shares
held: 13,200

Michiko Ogawa

Masatoshi Maruyama

Nobuhiko Watabe

Ichiro Sakai

Director

Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member (Full-time)

Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member (Full-time)

Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Apr. 1980
Jun. 2005

Mar. 1982
Feb. 2002

Apr. 1968
Dec. 1999

Apr. 1986

Apr. 2015

Jun. 2017

Jun. 2018
Jun. 2019
Oct. 2019

Apr. 2021
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Joined Matsushita Electric Industrial
Co., Ltd. (now Panasonic
Corporation)
Executive Officer, In charge of
Technics Brand;
Managing Officer, Appliances
Company
Executive Officer, In charge of
Technics Brand;
Vice President, Appliances Company
In charge of Home Entertainment
Business and Communication
Business
Chairman, Japan Audio Society
Outside Director, Mazda Motor
Corporation
Director, In charge of Technics Brand,
Panasonic Corporation;
Vice President, Appliances Company
In charge of Technology
Director in charge of Technics Brand;
Director in charge of Kansai External
Relations and EXPO Promotion,
Panasonic Corporation
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May 2010
Apr. 2011
Jun. 2012
Apr. 2015
Jun. 2019

Joined the Company
Executive Vice President,
AutoAlliance (Thailand) Co., Ltd.
General Manager, Quality Div.
Executive Officer; General Manager,
Quality Div.
Executive Officer; General Manager,
Hiroshima Plant
Managing Executive Officer
Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member (Full-time)

Apr. 2006
Jan. 2011
Jun. 2013
Apr. 2016

Apr. 2017

Apr. 2021
Jun. 2021

Joined the Company
Deputy General Manager, Corporate
Planning Div.
Deputy General Manager, Domestic
Marketing Div.
General Manager, China Business Div.
Executive Officer;
CEO, Mazda Motor (China) Co., Ltd.
Executive Officer;
Chairman, Mazda Motor (China) Co.,
Ltd.
Managing Executive Officer
Chairman, Mazda Motor (China) Co.,
Ltd.
Managing Executive Officer
Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member (Full-time)

May 2001
Oct. 2002
Jun. 2004
Apr. 2005
Jun. 2005
Feb. 2006
Jun. 2007
Jun. 2011
Feb. 2014
Jun. 2019

Appointed Prosecutor
Chief Public Prosecutor of the Yokohama
District Public Prosecutors Office
Chief of the Research and Training
Institute of the Ministry of Justice
Superintendent Public Prosecutor of the
Hiroshima High Public Prosecutors Office
Superintendent Public Prosecutor of the
Fukuoka High Public Prosecutors Office
Registered as Lawyer (Daiichi Tokyo Bar
Association)
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board
Member, Toray Industries, Inc.
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board
Member, Kewpie Corporation
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board
Member, Mazda Motor Corporation
Outside Director, Mazda Motor
Corporation
Outside Director, Kewpie Corporation
Outside Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member, Mazda Motor
Corporation
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Independent director

Independent director

Independent director

Outside director

Outside director

Outside director

Number of shares
held: 1,600

Number of shares
held: 600

Number of shares
held: 0

Akira Kitamura

Hiroko Shibasaki

Masato Sugimori

Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Apr. 1974

Apr. 1974

Apr. 1979
Apr. 2010

Jun. 2003
Apr. 2006
Apr. 2007
Apr. 2008

Apr. 2009
Jun. 2009
Mar. 2010

Jun. 2016
Apr. 2018
Jun. 2018
Jun. 2019

Jun. 2020

Governance

Joined Sumitomo Bank, Ltd. (now
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corp.)
Executive Officer, Sumitomo Mitsui
Banking Corp.
Managing Executive Officer, Sumitomo
Mitsui Banking Corp.
Director & Senior Managing Executive
Officer, Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corp.
Representative Director & Senior
Managing Executive Officer, Sumitomo
Mitsui Banking Corp.
Advisor, Kansai Urban Banking Corporation
Vice Chairman (Representative Director),
Kansai Urban Banking Corporation
Chairman of the Board & CEO
(Representative Director),
Kansai Urban Banking Corporation
Advisor, Kansai Urban Banking Corporation
Outside Director, ARK Real Estate Co., Ltd.
Outside Audit & Supervisory Board
Member, Mazda Motor Corporation
Outside Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member, Mazda Motor
Corporation
Outside Audit & Supervisory Committee
Member, Toyo Aluminium K.K.

Jul. 2008

Jul. 2010

Apr. 2012

Apr. 2015
Apr. 2018
Jun. 2019

Jun. 2021

Joined Tokio Marine and Fire Insurance
Company, Limited (now Tokio Marine &
Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd.)
Senior General Manager
General Manager, Voice of Customers
Dept.,Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire
Insurance Co., Ltd.
Senior General Manager
General Manager, Fukuoka Chuo Branch,
Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire Insurance
Co., Ltd.
Director General Manager, Fukuoka Chuo
Branch, Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire
Insurance Co., Ltd.
Managing Executive Officer, Tokio Marine
& Nichido Fire Insurance Co., Ltd.
Advisor, Tokio Marine & Nichido Fire
Insurance Co., Ltd.
Outside Director, Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member,
Mazda Motor Corporation
Outside Director, Kyudenko Corporation
(Appointed on June 25, 2021)

Apr. 2012

Apr. 2013
Apr. 2016

Jun. 2017

Apr. 2020

Apr. 2021

Jun. 2021

Joined Sumitomo Corporation
Executive Officer, Sumitomo
Corporation; Executive Vice President
and CFO, Sumitomo Corporation North
America Group
Executive Officer; General Manager,
Corporate Planning & Coordination
Dept., Sumitomo Corporation
Managing Executive Officer, Sumitomo
Corporation
Senior Managing Executive Officer,
Assistant CFO, Risk Management,
Sumitomo Corporation
Director, Executive Vice President, CFO,
General Manager, Corporate Control Unit,
Jupiter Telecommunications Co., Ltd.
Advisor, Assistant to General Manager,
Media & Digital Business Unit,
Sumitomo Corporation
Advisor, Sumitomo Corporation
Advisor, Jupiter Telecommunications Co.,
Ltd. (Stepped down on June 30, 2021)
Outside Director,
Audit & Supervisory Committee
Member, Mazda Motor Corporation

Note: Based on its criteria for independence, the Company has determined that all of the Company’s outside directors have sufficient independence such that they have no conflicts of
interest with general shareholders and has notified the Tokyo Stock Exchange that the individuals are designated as independent directors. Please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report for the Company’s criteria for the independence of an outside officer.
(https://www.mazda.com/en/investors/library/governance/)

Executive Officers
President and CEO

Managing Executive Officers

Executive Officers

Akira Marumoto*

Ikuo Maeda

Masashi Aihara

In charge of Design and Brand Style

Executive Vice President and COO
Kiyoshi Fujiwara*
Oversight of Innovation, Carbon Neutrality,
Partnership and New Business

Senior Managing Executive Officers
Mitsuru Ono*
Oversight of Financial Services and Corporate
Planning & Development

Akira Koga*
Oversight of Corporate Strategy, Product Strategy,
Cost Planning and MDI & IT

Masahiro Moro*
Oversight of Communication, Corporate
Communications, Corporate Liaison and Administrative Domain

Yasuhiro Aoyama*
Oversight of Global Marketing, Sales and Customer Service

Ichiro Hirose

Tetsuya Fujimoto
In charge of Financial Services and Corporate Planning &
Development

Hiroshi Inoue
In charge of Asia & Oceania and New Emerging Markets;
President, Mazda South East Asia Ltd.

Makoto Yoshihara
Assistant to the Officer overseeing Administrative Domain;
In charge of Global Auditing, CSR, Environment, Secretariat,
General & Legal Affairs, Compliance and Risk Management

Hidenori Kawakami
In charge of Global Quality; Assistant to the Officer in charge
of Cost Innovation

Hidetoshi Kudo
In charge of Brand Enhancement, Digitalization Promotion,
Global Marketing, Sales and Customer Service

Takeji Kojima
In charge of R&D Administration, Product Strategy, Technical
Research Center and Carbon Neutrality

President, Mazda Toyota Manufacturing U.S.A., Inc.

Ryuichi Umeshita
Executive Vice President, Mazda Motor of America, Inc.
(Mazda North American Operations)

Kazuhisa Yoshida
In charge of Global Human Resources, Safety, Health & Disaster
Prevention and Mazda Hospital

Hiroyuki Matsumoto
In charge of Vehicle Development and Product Planning

Akihiro Kidani
In charge of MDI & IT

Eiji Nakai
In charge of Powertrain Development and Integrated Control
System Development

Ikuo Sugiyama
Senior Vice President,
Mazda Toyota Manufacturing U.S.A., Inc.

Hironori Tanaka
In charge of Domestic Sales

Oversight of R&D and Cost Innovation

Takeshi Mukai
Oversight of Quality, Purchasing, Production and Business
Logistics; In charge of Cost Innovation

Jeffrey H. Guyton
Oversight of Operations in North America; President and CEO,
Mazda Motor of America, Inc.
(Mazda North American Operations)

Fellow
Senior Innovation Fellow
Mitsuo Hitomi

Noriyuki Takimura
In charge of Corporate Communications, Corporate Liaison and
Operations in the Greater Tokyo Metropolitan Area

Osamu Kawamura
In charge of Operations in China

Takuji Iwashita
President and CEO, Mazda Motor Manufacturing de Mexico, S.A.
de C.V. (Mazda de Mexico Vehicle Operation)

Kazuhiko Sumi
General Manager, Purchasing Div.

Kazuyoshi Todou
General Manager, Domestic Business Div.

* Also holds the post of Directors
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Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report for Mazda's basic philosophy, policies, and details
on its initiatives regarding the Corporate Governance Code.

https://www.mazda.com/en/investors/library/governance/

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Mazda respects the intent of the Corporate Governance Code set by the Tokyo Stock Exchange and, while working to build a good relationship with its stakeholders, including shareholders, customers, suppliers, the local community, and its employees, the Company shall
strive to sustain growth and enhance its corporate value over the medium and long terms through transparent, fair, prompt, and decisive
decision-making and to continue to enhance its corporate governance.
The business environment surrounding the Company is undergoing rapid changes. In order to enable faster business decision-making,
further enhance discussion of management strategies, and strengthen supervisory functions of Board of Directors’ meetings, the Company
has adopted a Company with an Audit & Supervisory Committee structure.
Furthermore, in addition to bodies designated by law such as the general meeting of shareholders, the Board of Directors, and the Audit
& Supervisory Committee, the Company has established an Officer Lineup & Remuneration Advisory Committee in order to enhance the
transparency of the process for nominating and appointing executive officers and candidates for director, as well as their remuneration, as
an advisory function for the board of directors.
Regarding the system for the execution of business, Mazda has adopted an executive officer system. The Company holds Executive
Committee meetings to convey information necessary for debate on important Company-wide policies and initiatives and business management, as well as advisory bodies to contribute to decision-making by the president.

Overview of the Corporate Governance Structure
Directors (Excluding Directors who are Audit &
Supervisory Committee Members)

Directors who are Audit & Supervisory Committee
Members
Number of Directors on the Board

Number of Directors

9 (7 inside directors, 2 outside directors),
of whom 1 is a woman

Term of Office

1 year

Incentives

Short term: Performance-based remuneration
Medium to long term: Remuneration in the form of
stock options

Number of Directors

6 (2 inside directors, 4 outside directors),
of whom 1 is a woman

Term of Office

2 years

Number of Directors

15 (9 inside directors, 6 outside directors),
of whom 2 are women

Ratio of Outside Directors

40%

Ratio of Female Directors

13.3%

Independent Directors (filed with Tokyo Stock Exchange)

6 outside directors

Accounting Auditor

KPMG AZSA LLC

Structure by Organization (

is the Chairperson)

Position

Name

Representative Director and
Chairman of the Board

Kiyotaka Shobuda

Representative Director, President and CEO

Akira Marumoto

Representative Director,
Executive Vice President and COO

Kiyoshi Fujiwara

Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Mitsuru Ono

Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Akira Koga

Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Masahiro Moro

Director and Senior Managing
Executive Officer

Yasuhiro Aoyama

Director

Kiyoshi Sato

Director

Michiko Ogawa

Director who is Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member (Full-time)

Masatoshi Maruyama

Director who is Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member (Full-time)

Nobuhiko Watabe

Director who is Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Ichiro Sakai

Director who is Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Akira Kitamura

Director who is Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Hiroko Shibasaki

Director who is Audit & Supervisory
Committee Member

Masato Sugimori
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Outside Directors

Board of Directors

Audit & Supervisory
Committee

Officer Lineup &
Remuneration Advisory
Committee
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General Meeting of Shareholders
Statement
of opinion

Selection / Dismissal

Selection / Dismissal

Selection / Dismissal
Advice /
Report

1 Board of Directors

Advisory Committee

2 Audit & Supervisory
Report
Cooperate

Committee Directors
(Audit & Supervisory
Committee Members)
(Six corporate directors, of whom
four are outside directors)

4 Officer Lineup & Remuneration

Representative Directors
Audit
Supervise

Directors
(Excluding Audit & Supervisory
Committee members)

Advice

ECM and other president advisory
committee / organization

(Fifteen corporate directors,
of whom six are outside directors)
Report

Supervise

6 Accounting Auditor

Audit & Supervisory Committee
Department
Cooperate

Committees

3 Executive Officers

• Health & Safety Committee
• Quality Committee
• Risk & Compliance Committee
• Human Right Committee
• Security Export Control Committee, etc.

Report

Division Managers
5 Internal Audit Department

Audit

Group Companies

Department Managers
Employees

1 Board of Directors

4 Officer Lineup & Remuneration Advisory Committee

The Company’s Board of Directors deliberates and makes
decisions regarding the execution of important matters including
fundamental business policies and management strategy. In
addition, it supervises the execution of operations by individual
directors. In order to enable quick and flexible decision-making, a
significant portion of important business execution decisions are
delegated to the relevant management team in accordance with
the provisions of the Articles of Incorporation. The president and
other executive officers who have been delegated authority make
decisions on these matters. The Board is made up of 15 directors,
six of whom are highly independent outside directors.

The Company has established the Officer Lineup & Remuneration
Advisory Committee, made up of three representative directors
and six outside directors and chaired by a representative director
and chairman of the board, as an advisory body to the Board of
Directors. The committee reports to the Board of Directors the
results of its deliberation on matters such as officer lineup and
policies regarding the selection and training of directors, as well as
remuneration payment policies and the remuneration system and
process based on those policies, which contribute to the
Company’s sustainable growth and the raising of corporate value
in the medium and long term.

2 Audit & Supervisory Committee

5 Internal Audit Department

The Company’s Audit & Supervisory Committee audits the Board of
Directors’ decision-making process and business execution through
the execution of voting rights at Board of Directors’ meetings and
the execution of its right to state opinions on personnel changes
and remuneration of directors (excluding directors who are Audit &
Supervisory Committee members) at the general meeting of shareholders. The Audit & Supervisory Committee is made up of six
members, four of whom are highly independent outside directors.
In order to ensure the smooth operation of the Audit & Supervisory
Committee’s audits, two of its members are full-time.

In an effort to contribute to sound and efficient management, the
Global Audit Department audits the appropriateness of the
business activities of the Company or its Group companies. It also
audits the appropriateness and effectiveness of internal control.

3 Executive Officers
The Company has introduced an executive officer system. By
separating execution and management, the effectiveness of the
oversight of the Board of Directors is enhanced, and decisionmaking is sped up through expanded debate by the Board of
Directors and by delegating authority to executive officers. In this
way, the Company is working to further managerial efficiency.

6 Accounting Auditor
Accounting audits are conducted by KPMG AZSA LLC, with whom
the Company has concluded an audit contract. The certified
public accountants who conducted the Company’s accounting
audits have been working on the Company’s audits for less than
seven years. Those assisting with the Company’s accounting audits
include 11 certified public accountants, one public accountant with
U.S. certification, and 23 others, nine of whom have passed the
certified public accountant examination.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Procedures in Nominating, Appointing, and Dismissing
Officers and Determining Their Remuneration
In order to enhance the transparency, fairness, and objectivity of
the process for nominating and appointing executive officers and
candidates for director and the remuneration of directors and
executive officers, the Officer Lineup & Remuneration Advisory
Committee reports to the Board of Directors the results of its
deliberation on matters such as officer lineup and policies regarding the selection and training of directors, as well as remuneration
payment policies and the remuneration system and process based
on those policies, which contribute to the Company’s sustainable
growth and raising of corporate value in the medium and long terms.

Policies on the Nomination, Appointment, and Dismissal
of Officers
When nominating and appointing officers, under the basic premise
that they are healthy both physically and mentally, the Company
shall consider whether they have the proper attitude to fulfill the
mandate of shareholders, customers, and other stakeholders, high
ethical standards, the ability to take action, leadership qualities, and
the experience and ability to carry out their duties as well as their
professional and personal achievements. Candidates for director
must have exceptional character, insight, ability, and a wealth of
experience. The overall structure and balance of the Board must
also be considered. The Company shall confirm that, in addition to
the above, candidates for outside director meet the Company’s
requirements for independence and have the time and energy
necessary to properly fulfill their roles and responsibilities. Based
on the advice of the Officer Lineup & Remuneration Advisory
Committee, proposals on the nomination, appointment, and
dismissal of officers shall be submitted to the Board.
Regarding dismissal or other measures taken against an officer, in
cases where an officer was found to have violated the rules, regulations, or Company statutes regarding their duties; in cases where an
officer took an inappropriate action, thereby making them unqualified to serve as an officer; or in cases where circumstances emerged

that made the appropriate execution of their duties difficult, a
proposal to dismiss the officer in question shall be introduced to the
Board based on the advice of the Officer Lineup & Remuneration
Advisory Committee.

Policy on Remuneration of Officers
The policy for remuneration for the Company’s officers is 1) connected to the Company’s sustainable growth and raising corporate
value in the medium to long term, 2) used to acquire and maintain
capable personnel, 3) understandable and easy to explain to stakeholders and officers, and 4) the officers’ remuneration standard, set
in comparison with other automobile manufacturers, is to be determined based on the position of employee salary, bearing in mind
that officers work alongside employees.
The remuneration of internal directors (excluding directors who
are Audit & Supervisory Committee members and outside directors)
and executive officers consists of 1) a fixed amount of basic remuneration commensurate with their responsibilities, 2) performance-based
remuneration determined at the end of the fiscal year in accordance
with a designated standard and process after evaluating how much has
been achieved toward goals set based on the business plan, and
3) compensation in the form of stock options under a system introduced to incentivize contributions toward enhancing corporate value
over the medium and long term and to share the benefits with shareholders. Considering their status independent from the execution of
operations, outside directors and directors who are Audit & Supervisory
Committee members shall receive a fixed amount of basic remuneration only. Based on the advice of the Officer Lineup & Remuneration
Advisory Committee, proposals on remuneration of officers (excluding
the separate remuneration of directors who are members of the Audit
& Supervisory Committee) shall be submitted to the Board.

Analysis and Evaluation of the Board’s Effectiveness
In order to steadily advance measures for the further enhancement
of its efficiency, the Company’s Board of Directors analyzed and
evaluated the meetings conducted in fiscal year March 2021.

Reasons for Appointment of Outside Directors
[Outside Directors] These directors are anticipated to enhance the supervisory functions of the Board of Directors through their efforts, in
addition to leveraging the following experience and insight in the management of the Company.
Kiyoshi Sato

Mr. Sato has rich expertise in the areas of sales and marketing at an electronics manufacturer. He has served in senior roles, such as representative director, president and CEO, and director and vice chairman of the board, and has rich experience and insight in corporate management. We expect his advice and recommendations from an international perspective and his broad management viewpoint in particular.

Michiko Ogawa

Ms. Ogawa has detailed knowledge as an audio technology researcher at an electronics manufacturer. As an officer in charge of premium audio equipment, she
engaged in brand reestablishment efforts and possesses rich experience and insight into corporate management. We expect her advice and recommendations
from a brand marketing perspective and her professional viewpoint as an engineer in particular.

[Outside Directors (Audit & Supervisory Committee Members)] These directors are anticipated to strengthen the audit and supervisory
functions of the Company’s management through their efforts by leveraging the following experience and insight.
Ichiro Sakai

Mr. Sakai served as a prosecutor and attorney for many years, and has extensive experience in and knowledge of the legal profession. We expect his advice and
recommendations from the viewpoint of compliance and from his expert standpoint as a legal professional in particular.

Akira Kitamura

Mr. Kitamura has held key posts at a financial institution, including representative director & senior managing executive officer as well as chairman of the board
and chief executive officer (representative director). He has great knowledge of finance and accounting and rich experience in and knowledge of corporate management. We expect his advice and recommendations from the broad viewpoint of corporate management and from his expert understanding of finance and
accounting in particular.

Hiroko Shibasaki

Ms. Shibasaki has many years of experience in the field of sales at a damage insurance company. In roles such as managing executive officer, she oversaw sales in
Kyushu and Okinawa and gained rich experience and insight into corporate management. We expect her advice and recommendations from the standpoint of
customer satisfaction and from her expert knowledge of sales in particular.

Masato Sugimori

Mr. Sugimoto has worked in administration for many years at a trading company and has considerable knowledge of risk management, finance, and accounting.
He has also served as a senior managing executive officer with experience in and insight into corporate management. We expect his advice and recommendations from the broad viewpoint of risk management and from his expert understanding of finance and accounting in particular.
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 Method of analysis and evaluation
Based on a survey prepared by the Board’s secretariat, all of the directors
evaluated the Board’s effectiveness. After the results were compiled by
the secretariat, an analysis of the current situation was shared at a Board
meeting and the ideal to be pursued and improvements were discussed.
The survey primarily covered the constitution of the Board of
Directors, debate on the business strategy, debate on compliance and
internal control, the provision of information (the amount of information, materials, explanations, and support for outside directors), and
involvement in the debate. Additionally, the effects of improved
management decision-making speed, enhanced deliberation among
the Board of Directors, and the strengthened supervisory function of
the Board of Directors, which were objectives of the transition to
company with an Audit & Supervisory Comittee, were comfirmed.

Overview of the results
It was found that members of the Board of Directors are properly
involved in determining the Company’s business strategy and share
an understanding of its content, that the outside directors express
their opinions from an independent perspective after gaining an
understanding of the Company’s situation by receiving explanations
of resolutions in advance and other forms of support, and that the
oversight function of the execution of operations has been ensured.
Furthermore, it was confirmed that productive deliberation took
place without any problem even in the online environment of meetings during COVID-19 conditions. Additionally, it was confirmed
that the business strategy and other matters were thoroughly discussed by securing ample time and that decision-making speed had
been improved by delegating the Board of Directors’ authorities to
representative directors within an appropriate scope based on the
Company’s Articles of Incorporation. However, although improvements are evident since last year, it was also confirmed that initiatives are necessary to further improve and strengthen areas such as
the monitoring of the business strategy and other important matters,
as well as thorough discussion of risks and profitability.
The Company will analyze and evaluate the effectiveness of the Board
of Directors every year and continue initiatives for constant improvement in order to raise corporate value in the medium to long term.

Basic Strategy for Capital Policy
In order to enhance corporate value over the medium and long
terms and build a solid financial foundation for stable, continued
growth, the Company shall endeavor to reduce its interest-bearing
debt and increase its equity capital.
The Company shall also endeavor to use its management
resources effectively and enhance its capital efficiency.
With regard to shareholder returns, the Company shall endeavor to
strengthen its financial foundation for a higher dividend payout ratio,
with the payment of dividends based on performance as its basis.

Policy on Cross-Shareholdings
Taking into overall consideration the business strategy, the necessity to business activities such as maintaining and strengthening
business dealings, and the economic rationality of cross-shareholdings, the Company shall have cross-shareholdings when it will
lead to the enhancement of corporate value over the medium and
long terms. If the purpose of cross-shareholdings is judged to have
diminished, the Company shall aim to reduce cross-shareholdings,
including the selling of shares based on the relevant company’s
circumstances, etc.

Environmental
and Social Initiatives

Governance

Dialogue with Shareholders and Investors
For continued growth and enhancement of corporate value over the
medium and long terms, the Company shall promote investor relations through the timely and appropriate disclosure of information to
shareholders and investors and through constructive dialogue.
The officer who oversees finance shall have overall responsibility
for dialogue with shareholders and investors, and the officer in
charge of finance and the financial planning department (investor
relations department) shall be in charge. In order to enhance
dialogue, they shall cooperate with the departments in charge,
including the Corporate Planning & Development Division and the
Corporate Services Division, and create a framework for the
proper provision of information.
In addition to general meetings of shareholders, the Company
holds meetings with shareholders and investors to explain its
quarterly business results, management, and other business activities. Mazda is working to increase opportunities for dialogue in
such ways as holding business briefings for institutional investors,
individual investors, and domestic and overseas securities analysts.
Mazda’s website provides information including the schedule for
general meetings of shareholders and financial results announcements, performance and financial data, notice of the general
meeting of shareholders (business report), summary of financial
results, briefing materials for the financial results, asset securities
reports (in Japanese only), annual reports, and the Corporate
Governance Report, as the Company shall endeavor to disclose
information impartially and with a high degree of transparency.
Opinions from shareholders and investors will be relayed to the
Board of Directors or the management team as necessary by the
officer in charge of finances. In dialogues with shareholders and
investors, insider information (undisclosed material facts) shall be
handled appropriately in accordance with laws and regulations
and internal regulations.
Initiatives to Invigorate General Meetings of Shareholders and
Ensure the Smooth Exercise of Voting Rights
Date for general meetings of shareholders
General meetings of shareholders are held on dates that avoid concentrations of other companies’ general meetings.
Exercise of voting rights
To improve convenience, voting by electromagnetic methods was introduced at the general meeting of shareholders held in June 2004.
Environment for exercise of voting rights for institutional investors
Mazda has participated in the electronic voting platform operated by ICJ,
Inc. for the exercise of voting rights by institutional investors since the
general meeting of shareholders held in June 2008.
English convocation notice
An English version of the convocation notice is prepared as a reference for
the exercise of voting rights.
Others
The convocation notice is mailed early and disclosed on Mazda’s
corporate website prior to mailing.
At the general meeting of shareholders held in June 2018, we introduced a service that enables shareholders to view convocation notices
and related information, etc., and to access a website to exercise their
voting rights on smartphones.
English
https://www.mazda.com/en/investors/stockinfo/meeting/
Japanese https://www.mazda.com/ja/investors/stockinfo/meeting/
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CORPORATE DATA (As of March 31, 2021)

STOCK INFORMATION (As of March 31, 2021)

Name:

Mazda Motor Corporation

Authorized:

1,200,000,000 shares

Founded:

January 1920

Issued:

631,803,979 shares

Number of shareholders:

146,297

Listing:

Tokyo Stock Exchange, First Section

Code:

7261

Fiscal year-end:

March 31

Head Office:	3-1 Shinchi, Fuchu-cho, Aki-gun, Hiroshima
730-8670, Japan
Phone: +81 (82) 282-1111
Main business lines:	Manufacture and sales of passenger cars and
commercial vehicles
Capital:

¥284.0 billion

Number of employees: 49,786 (consolidated)
Research and
development sites:	Head Office, Mazda R&D Center (Yokohama),
Mazda North American Operations (USA),
Mazda Motor Europe (Germany),
MCO China Engineering Support Center (China)
Production sites:
Japan:
Hiroshima Plant (Head Office, Ujina),
		
Hofu Plant (Nishinoura, Nakanoseki),
		
Miyoshi Plant
Overseas: China, Thailand, Mexico, Vietnam,*
		
Malaysia,* Russia*
Sales companies:
Japan:
212
Overseas: 136
Principal products:	Four-wheeled vehicles, gasoline reciprocating
engines, diesel engines, and automatic and
manual transmissions for vehicles
* Assembly only (Volume is not disclosed)

Transfer agent:	Sumitomo Mitsui Trust Bank, Limited
4-1, Marunouchi 1-chome, Chiyoda-ku,
Tokyo 100-8233, Japan

Breakdown of Shareholders
Other Japanese
corporations

Japanese securities
companies

12.2%
77,184 thousand shares

1.6%
9,975 thousand shares

Japanese individuals
and others*

17.7%
111,838 thousand shares
Japanese financial
institutions

Foreign institutions
and others

40.4%
255,085 thousand shares

28.1%
177,722 thousand shares
* Treasury stock is included in Japanese individuals and others.

Major Shareholders
Introduction to Other Tools

No. of
Shares Owned
(Thousand shares)

Ratio
(%)

The Master Trust Bank of Japan, Ltd.
(Trust Account)

47,410

7.5

Toyota Motor Corporation

31,928

5.1

Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account)

28,043

4.5

NORTHERN TRUST CO. (AVFC) RE
SILCHESTER INTERNATIONAL INVESTORS
INTERNATIONAL VALUE EQUITY TRUST

15,488

2.5

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON 140051

12,181

1.9

Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation

10,191

1.6

https://www.mazda.com/en/csr/

NORTHERN TRUST CO. (AVFC) RE
U.S. TAX EXEMPTED PENSION FUNDS

10,123

1.6

About Mazda

Custody Bank of Japan, Ltd. (Trust Account 5)

9,623

1.5

Includes Mazda Corporate Vision,
Company profile

SSBTC CLIENT OMNIBUS ACCOUNT

9,253

1.5

STATE STREET BANK WEST CLIENT
- TREATY 505234

8,876

1.4

Mazda Sustainability Report
https://www.mazda.com/en/csr/report/download/

Mazda in Brief
https://www.mazda.com/en/about/profile/library/

Please Visit Our Official Website
Investor Relations
Includes the president’s message, financial
results, and presentation documents
https://www.mazda.com/en/investors/

CSR
Includes environmental protection, social
contributions, and approaches to safety

https://www.mazda.com/en/about/

For Inquiries
For inquiries concerning this annual report, please contact:
IR Group, Financial Planning Department, Financial Services Division
Mazda Motor Corporation
3-1 Shinchi, Fuchu-cho, Aki-gun, Hiroshima 730-8670, Japan
Phone: +81 (82) 282-1111
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Shareholder

Note: Treasury stock of 2,011,338 shares is excluded in the calculation of the ratio.
Forward-Looking Statements
Statements made in this annual report with respect to Mazda’s plans, strategies, and future
performance are forward-looking statements based on management’s assumptions and beliefs in
light of information currently available and involve risks and uncertainties. Potential risks and
uncertainties include, but are not limited to: sudden changes in general economic conditions in
Mazda’s markets and operating environment, exchange rates, the ability of Mazda and its
subsidiaries to develop and introduce products that incorporate new technology in a timely manner and to manufacture them in a cost-effective way, and fluctuations in stock markets.
Accordingly, actual results could differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking
statements.
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